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Esperion Therapeutics, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Condensed Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred offering costs
Prepaid clinical development costs
Other prepaid and current assets
Assets held for sale
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets
Total assets
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit
Current liabilities:
Short term borrowings with related parties, net of debt discount
Accrued interest
Accounts payable
Accrued clinical development costs
Warrant liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Total liabilities
Convertible preferred stock:
Series A preferred stock par value $0.001; 59,538,092 shares authorized as of June 30, 2013 and
34,785,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2012, 57,598,092 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2013 and 23,975,000 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2012, aggregate liquidation preference of $57,598,092 at June 30, 2013 and $23,975,000 at
December 31, 2012
Series A-1 preferred stock par value $0.001; 7,862,283 shares authorized as of June 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012, 6,750,000 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2013 and 0 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012, aggregate liquidation preference of $7,803,000 at
June 30, 2013 and $0 at December 31, 2012

June 30,
2013
(Unaudited)

$

$

$

16,626,859
2,449,637
212,612
70,907
29,108
19,389,123
89,274
55,740
19,534,137

—
—
1,655,762
923,809
2,852,188
1,212,666
6,644,425

December 31,
2012

$

$

$

6,511,521
—
367,216
150,325
109,344
7,138,406
120,210
53,825
7,312,441

15,241,007
738,192
476,277
242,171
265,323
210,329
17,173,299

—
6,644,425

7,528,845
24,702,144

57,478,555

23,975,000

7,749,531

—

Stockholders’ deficit:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 120,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2013 and
50,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2012, respectively; 396,414 shares issued and
372,079 outstanding at June 30, 2013 and 346,478 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2012
Additional paid-in capital
Deficit accumulated during the development stage
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity

396
796,508
(53,135,278)
(52,338,374)
19,534,137

$

$

346
609,976
(41,975,025)
(41,364,703)
7,312,441

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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Esperion Therapeutics, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Condensed Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2012

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2013

Grant income

$

Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Acquired in-process research and
development
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Other income (expense), net
Net loss
Net loss per common share (basic and
diluted)
Weighted-average shares outstanding
(basic and diluted)

—

2013

$

—

$

Period from January
22, 2008 (Inception)
to June 30, 2013

2012

—

$

—

$

244,479

3,100,422
1,171,425

2,330,223
533,658

5,193,015
2,422,844

3,887,434
1,166,030

32,606,876
13,872,540

—
4,271,847
(4,271,847)

—
2,863,881
(2,863,881)

—
7,615,859
(7,615,859)

—
5,053,464
(5,053,464)

85,612
46,565,028
(46,320,549)

$

(108,357)
(2,544,907)
4,035
(6,921,076)

$

(303,167)
—
894
(3,166,154)

$

(936,580)
(2,586,865)
(20,949)
(11,160,253)

$

(563,595)
—
1,953
(5,615,106)

(4,320,696)
(2,554,498)
60,465
(53,135,278)

$

(19.82)

$

(9.94)

$

(32.09)

$

(17.92)

349,170

318,654

347,831

$

313,258

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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Esperion Therapeutics, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30, 2013

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization of debt discount and beneficial conversion
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Change in fair of warrant liability
Noncash interest expense on convertible notes
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development
Stock-based compensation expense
Common stock issued in license agreement
Loss related to assets held for sale
Gain on sale of assets
Changes in assets and liabilities:

$

(11,160,253)
49,139
458,993
18,533
2,586,865
459,055
—
153,412
—
29,000
(5,029)

Period from January
22, 2008 (Inception)
to June 30, 2013

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2012

$

(5,615,106)
71,956
—
4,592
—
563,595
—
31,299
—
—
(1,949)

$

(53,135,278)
1,426,310
575,981
33,911
2,554,498
3,726,092
85,612
410,520
4,400
324,701
(23,488)

Prepaids and other assets
Accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of short-term investments
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments
Cash obtained in stock acquisition
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchase of property and equipment
Other investing
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

213,574
287,695
1,102,900
(5,806,116)

(394,930)
11,641
(203,697)
(5,532,599)

(323,196)
763,972
1,555,397
(42,020,568)

—
—
—
56,265
(18,203)
—
38,062

—
—
—
4,500
(10,668)
—
(6,168)

(31,569,166)
31,515,350
2,500,000
807,464
(285,762)
50,626
3,018,512

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs
Payments for offering costs in connection with initial public offering
Proceeds from warrant issuance
Proceeds from debt issuance with related parties
Net cash provided by financing activities

123,245
16,826,994
(1,066,847)
—
—
15,883,392

17,362
—
—
—
6,000,000
6,017,362

184,068
40,801,994
(1,066,847)
297,690
15,412,010
55,628,915

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

10,115,338
6,511,521
16,626,859

$

478,595
1,571,084
2,049,679

$

16,626,859
—
16,626,859

$

16,623,092

$

—

$

16,623,092

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Conversion of convertible promissory notes, including accrued interest of
$923,092 into Series A preferred stock
Conversion of convertible long-term Pfizer note, including accrued interest of
$274,155 into Series A-1 preferred stock
Deferred offering costs not yet paid

7,803,000
1,382,790

—
—

7,803,000
1,382,790

See accompanying notes to the condensed financial statements.
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Esperion Therapeutics, Inc.
(A Development Stage Company)
Notes to the Condensed Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. The Company and Basis of Presentation
The Company is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of therapies for the treatment of patients
with elevated levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and other cardiometabolic risk factors. ETC-1002, the Company’s lead product candidate,
is a novel, first in class, orally available, once-daily small molecule therapy designed to target known lipid and carbohydrate metabolic pathways to reduce
levels of LDL-C and to avoid side effects associated with existing LDL-C lowering therapies. The Company owns the exclusive worldwide rights to ETC1002 and its other product candidates.
HDL Therapeutics, Inc. (HDL) was incorporated in the state of Delaware on January 22, 2008. On April 28, 2008, HDL acquired all of the capital stock
of Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. (Esperion), a wholly owned subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. On May 5, 2008, Esperion was merged with and into HDL and the
Company assumed the name Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company). Its facilities are located in Plymouth, Michigan.
The Company’s primary activities since incorporation have been recruiting personnel, conducting research and development activities, including preclinical and clinical testing, performing business and financial planning, and raising capital. Accordingly, the Company is considered to be in development
stage.
The Company is subject to the risks associated with a development stage entity, which includes the need to: research, develop, and clinically test
potential therapeutic products; obtain regulatory approvals for its products and commercialize them, if approved; expand its management and scientific staff;
and finance its operations with an ultimate goal of achieving profitable operations.
The Company has sustained operating losses since inception and expects such losses to continue over the foreseeable future. Management plans to
continue to finance operations with a combination of public and private equity issuances, debt arrangements, collaborations and strategic and licensing
arrangements. If adequate funds are not available, the Company may not be able to continue the development of its current or future product candidates, or to
commercialize its current or future product candidates, if approved.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying condensed financial statements are unaudited and were prepared by the Company in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States of America (GAAP). In the opinion of management, the Company has made all adjustments, which include only normal

recurring adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of operations for the interim periods presented. Certain
information and disclosures normally included in the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. These
condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31,
2012 included in the Company’s final prospectus dated June 25, 2013 filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 26, 2013. The results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for a full year, any other interim periods or any future year or period.
Reverse Stock Split
On June 11, 2013, in connection with its initial public offering (the IPO), the Company effectuated a 1-for-6.986 reverse stock split of its outstanding
common stock, which was approved by the Company’s board of directors on June 5, 2013. The reverse stock split resulted in an adjustment to the Series A
preferred stock and Series A-1 preferred stock conversion prices to reflect a proportional decrease in the number of shares of common stock to be issued upon
conversion. The accompanying financial statements and notes to the financial statements give effect to the reverse stock split for all periods presented. The
shares of common stock retained a par value of $0.001 per share. Accordingly, the stockholders’ deficit reflects the reverse stock split by reclassifying from
“common stock” to “Additional paid-in capital” in an amount equal to the par value of the decreased shares resulting from the reverse stock split.
6
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company invests its excess cash in bank deposits, money market accounts, and short-term investments. The Company considers all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are reported at fair value.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities consist of financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk.
The Company has established guidelines for investment of its excess cash and believes the guidelines maintain safety and liquidity through diversification of
counterparties and maturities.
Segment Information
The Company views its operations and manages its business in one operating segment, which is the business of researching, developing and
commercializing therapies for the treatment of patients with elevated levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and other cardiometabolic risk factors.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities that
approximate their carrying value.
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, generally three to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the lease term or the estimated
useful lives of the related assets.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying amount. The impairment loss, if recognized, would
be based on the excess of the carrying value of the impaired asset over its respective fair value. Excluding impairment losses recorded on assets held for sale,
no other impairment losses have been recorded through June 30, 2013.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred to further the Company’s research and development activities and include salaries and
related benefits, costs associated with pre-clinical studies and trials, non-clinical activities (such as toxicology studies), regulatory activities, manufacturing
activities to support clinical activities, research-related overhead expenses, and fees paid to external service providers that conduct certain research and
development, clinical, and manufacturing activities on behalf of the Company. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
7
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In-Process Research and Development
In April 2008, the Company acquired certain tangible research and development assets and intellectual property from Pfizer Inc. (Pfizer). As the
acquired in-process research and development had not reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses in connection with this asset and
intellectual property acquisition and the related purchase price allocation, the Company expensed $85,612 as in-process research and development costs in
2008.

Accrued Clinical Development Costs
Outside research costs are a component of research and development expense. These expenses include fees paid to contract research organizations and
other service providers that conduct certain clinical and product development activities on behalf of the Company. Depending upon the timing of payments to
the service providers, the Company recognizes prepaid expenses or accrued expenses related to these costs. These accrued or prepaid expenses are based on
management’s estimates of the work performed under service agreements, milestones achieved and experience with similar contracts. The Company monitors
each of these factors and adjusts estimates accordingly.
Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the liability method of accounting for income taxes as required by ASC 740, Income Taxes. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and the tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using enacted
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company has incurred operating losses since inception.
Accordingly, it is not more likely than not that the Company will realize deferred tax assets and as such, it has recorded a full valuation allowance.
Warrant Liability
The Company accounts for its warrants issued in connection with its various financing transactions based upon the characteristics and provisions of the
instrument. Warrants classified as derivative liabilities are recorded on the Company’s balance sheet at their fair value on the date of issuance and are markedto-market on each subsequent reporting period, with the fair value changes recognized in the statement of operations. The warrants are measured using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model subsequent to the pricing of the Company’s IPO and a Monte Carlo valuation model for previous periods which are
based, in part, upon inputs where there is little or no market data, requiring the Company to develop its own independent assumptions. The Company will
continue to adjust the liability for changes in the fair value of these warrants until the earlier of the exercise of the warrants, the expiration of the warrants, or
until such time as the warrants are no longer determined to be derivative instruments.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation.
Accordingly, compensation costs related to equity instruments granted are recognized over the requisite service periods of the awards on a straight-line basis
at the grant-date fair value calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. Additionally, under the provisions of ASC 718, the Company is required to
include an estimate of the number of awards that will be forfeited in calculating compensation costs. Any changes to the estimated forfeiture rates are
accounted for prospectively. Stock-based compensation arrangements with non-employees are recognized at the grant-date fair value and then re-measured at
each reporting period. Expense is recognized during the period the related services are rendered.
3. Debt
Convertible Notes
In January 2012, the Company issued $6,000,000 of 10% convertible promissory notes for cash. In September and November 2012, the Company
issued the aggregate of $9,700,000 of 10% convertible promissory notes that mature on September 4, 2013 for cash. In connection with the
September convertible note financing, the Company and the holders of the January 2012 convertible promissory notes agreed to extend the maturity date of
the January 2012 notes to September 4, 2013. In February 2013, these convertible promissory notes, with an outstanding principal of $15,700,000 and
accrued interest of $923,092, were amended and then converted into 16,623,092 shares of Series A preferred stock, in accordance with their terms and at their
conversion price of $1.00 per share, and following such conversion, the notes were cancelled. The holders of the September convertible promissory notes
received the benefit of a deemed conversion price of the September convertible promissory notes that were below the estimated fair value of the Series A
convertible preferred stock at the time of their issuance. The fair value of this beneficial conversion feature was estimated to be $287,990. The fair value of
this beneficial conversion feature was recorded to debt discount and amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the term of the
convertible promissory notes. As a result of the conversion of the convertible promissory notes into shares of Series A preferred stock on February 12, 2013,
the Company recorded the remaining accretion of the beneficial conversion feature of $229,496 as interest expense during the six months ended June 30,
2013.
In April 2008, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Esperion from Pfizer in exchange for a non-subordinated convertible note in the
original principal amount of $5,000,000. This convertible promissory note had a maturity date of April 28, 2018. The note bore interest at 8.931% annually,
payable semiannually on June 30 and December 31 by adding such unpaid interest to the principal of the note, which would thereafter accrue interest. On
May 29, 2013 the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Pfizer Inc. and sold 6,750,000 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock at a price of
$1.1560 per share, which was the fair value at the transaction date. The purchase price was paid through the cancellation of all outstanding indebtedness,
including accrued interest, under the Pfizer convertible promissory note, which had an outstanding balance, including accrued interest, of $7,803,000 as of
May 29, 2013.
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4. Warrants
In connection with its various financing transactions, the Company issued warrants which are classified as derivative liabilities and recorded on the
Company’s balance sheet at their fair value on the date of issuance and are marked-to-market on each subsequent reporting period, with the fair value changes
recognized in the statement of operations. On June 30, 2013, the Company estimated the fair values of the warrants at each reporting period using a BlackScholes option-pricing model, which is based, in part, upon subjective assumptions including but not limited to stock price volatility, the expected life of the
warrants, the risk free interest rate and the fair value of the common stock underlying the warrants. The Company estimates the volatility of its stock based
on public company peer group historical volatility that is in line with the expected remaining life of the warrants. The risk free interest rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury zero-coupon bond for a maturity similar to the expected remaining life of the warrants. The expected remaining life of the warrants is assumed
to be equivalent to their remaining contractual term. In prior periods, a Monte Carlo valuation model was utilized to estimate the fair value of the warrants
based on the probability and timing of future financings. The Company will continue to adjust the liability for changes in the fair value of these warrants until

the earlier of the exercise of the warrants, the expiration of the warrants, or until such time as the warrants are no longer determined to be derivative
instruments.
As of June 30, 2013, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase a total of 1,940,000 shares of its Series A preferred stock at an exercise price
of $1.00 per share. On July 1, 2013, upon the closing of the IPO, the warrants became exercisable for a total of 277,690 shares of common stock at an
exercise price of $6.99 per share. The Company is evaluating the impact of the IPO on the balance sheet classification of the outstanding warrants. The
warrants expire in February 2018.
5. Fair Value Measurements
The Company follows accounting guidance that emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement. Fair
value is defined as “the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date.” Fair value measurements are defined on a three level hierarchy:
Level 1 inputs:

Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;

Level 2 inputs:

Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities or other inputs that are
observable or can be corroborated by market data; and

Level 3 inputs:

Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and require the reporting entity to develop assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability.
9
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The following table presents the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that have been measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Description

Total

June 30, 2013
Assets:
Money market fund
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Warrants
Total liabilities at fair value
December 31, 2012
Assets:
Money market fund
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities:
Warrants
Total liabilities at fair value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

$
$

16,558,101
16,558,101

$
$

16,558,101
16,558,101

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

2,852,188
2,852,188

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

2,852,188
2,852,188

$
$

6,357,542
6,357,542

$
$

6,357,542
6,357,542

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

265,323
265,323

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

265,323
265,323

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the six months ended June 30, 2013 or June 30, 2012.
The following table summarizes the changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 warrant liabilities the six month period ended June 30, 2013:
Level 3 Liabilities:
As of December 31, 2012
Change in fair value
As of June 30, 2013

Warrant Liability

$
$

265,323
2,586,865
2,852,188

Fair Value Measurements on a Nonrecurring Basis
In addition to items that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company also measures assets held for sale at the lower of its carrying
amount or fair value on a nonrecurring basis. During the six months ended June 30, 2013, the Company recognized an impairment loss of $27,000 based on
recent purchase offers. The Company recognized $214,393 of impairment expense related to the assets held for sale in the period from inception through
June 30, 2013. The fair value of assets held for sale was estimated using a market approach, considering the estimated fair value for other comparable
equipment which are Level 3 inputs.
6. Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
On January 22, 2008, HDL was incorporated in the state of Delaware with 1,000 shares of authorized common stock. In April 2008, the Board of
Directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation. The amendment increased HDL’s authorized number of shares of common stock to a
total of 44,025,145 and authorized two new series of preferred stock designated as Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock consisting of 33,250,000 shares of
Series A preferred stock and 6,475,145 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock. In April 2008, HDL sold 286,286 shares of common stock and 10,000,000 shares
of Series A preferred stock in a private offering (the Initial Financing), raising net proceeds of $200 and $10,000,000, respectively. In the Initial Financing, the
Company converted an outstanding promissory note in the principal amount of $250,000 from an officer of the Company into 250,000 shares of Series A
preferred stock.

As a result of commencing Phase 1 clinical trials in December 2009, the Company issued 6,000,000 additional shares of Series A preferred stock,
raising net proceeds of $6,000,000 in January 2010 (Second Tranche Shares in the Initial Financing agreement).
In April 2010, the Company issued an additional 1,000,000 shares of Series A preferred stock to an officer and new investors for $1,000,000 in net
proceeds. In connection with this sale, the Initial Financing agreement was amended to allow for the additional
10
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issuance of shares. The Company also amended its certificate of incorporation to increase its number of authorized shares to 45,025,145 shares of common
stock and 40,725,145 shares of preferred stock, including 34,250,000 shares of Series A preferred stock and 6,475,145 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock.
In November 2010, the Company issued an additional 25,000 shares of Series A preferred stock to an officer of the Company in exchange for $25,000.
As a result of commencing Phase 2a clinical studies in December 2010, the Company issued 6,700,000 shares of Series A preferred stock, raising net
proceeds of $6,700,000 in January 2011 (Third Tranche Shares in the Initial Financing agreement). The Company also amended its certificate of
incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares to 50,000,000 shares of common stock and 41,682,329 shares of preferred stock, including
34,785,000 shares of Series A preferred stock and 6,897,329 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock.
In September 2012, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to increase the number of authorized preferred shares to 42,647,283,
including 34,785,000 shares of Series A preferred stock and 7,862,283 shares of Series A-1 preferred stock.
As of December 31, 2012, the Company did not have sufficient preferred and common shares authorized under its certificate of incorporation to permit
the conversion of the outstanding convertible promissory notes issued during 2012. Pursuant to the terms of the note purchase agreements, in the event any or
all of the notes were to be converted, the purchasers and the Company agreed to take all action necessary to amend the certificate of incorporation to increase
the number of authorized shares of Series A preferred stock and common stock to permit such conversion. The Company subsequently amended its certificate
of incorporation to increase the number of shares of Series A preferred stock authorized to 41,636,970 and number of shares of common stock authorized to
56,519,253 in connection with the conversion of the notes on February 12, 2013 into 16,623,092 shares of Series A preferred stock.
On April 10, 2013, the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to increase the number of shares of Series A preferred stock authorized to
59,538,092 and the number of shares of common stock authorized 75,220,375.
On April 19, 2013, the Company issued and sold an aggregate of 17,000,000 shares of Series A preferred stock at a price of $1.00 for proceeds of
$16,880,463, which is net of issuance costs of $119,537, to funds affiliated with Longitude Capital and certain existing investors. Each share of Series A
preferred stock issued in the financing was convertible into 0.143 shares of common stock as of June 30, 2013. Upon the closing of the financing, Patrick
Enright of Longitude Capital became a member of the board of directors.
On May 29, 2013, the Company entered into a stock purchase agreement with Pfizer Inc. and issued and sold 6,750,000 shares of Series A-1 preferred
stock at a price of $1.1560 per share. The purchase price was paid through the cancellation of all outstanding indebtedness, including accrued interest, under
the Pfizer convertible promissory note, which had an aggregate balance, including accrued interest, of $7,803,000 as of May 29, 2013. Each share of Series A1 preferred stock issued in the agreement was convertible into 0.124 shares of common stock as of June 30, 2013.
On June 11, 2013 the Company amended its certificate of incorporation to increase the number of shares of common stock authorized to 120,000,000.
Convertible Preferred Stock
As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, the Company had authorized a total of 67,400,375 and 42,647,283 shares of preferred stock, respectively,
designated in various series. The preferred stock designated as Series A and Series A-1 is summarized as follows:
June 30, 2013
Liquidation
Preference
Per Share

Shares
Designated

Series A
Series A-1

59,538,092
7,862,283
67,400,375

$
$

34,785,000
7,862,283
42,647,283

1.00
1.16
1.02
December 31, 2012
Liquidation
Preference
Per Share

Shares
Designated

Series A
Series A-1

Shares
Issued and
Outstanding

$
$

1.00
—
1.00

57,598,092
6,750,000
64,348,092
Shares
Issued and
Outstanding

23,975,000
—
23,975,000
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Voting
The holders of preferred stock had various rights and preferences. Each share of Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock had certain voting rights equal
to the number of shares of common stock into which it was convertible and voted together as one class with the common stock.

A separate vote of a majority of the Series A preferred stock, equal to the number of shares of common stock into which it was convertible, was
required for certain activities, including certain issuances of common stock; for any redemption, repurchase, dividend, or other distribution with respect to the
common stock; any agreement by the Company or its stockholders regarding certain mergers or consolidations of the Company; a sale of all or substantially
all of the assets of the Company; or any redemption, repurchase, dividend, or other distribution with respect to any shares of preferred stock.
As the Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock could have been redeemed in a “deemed liquidation” in the event of a change of control and the
redemption features were considered to be outside the control of the Company, all shares of Series A preferred stock have been presented outside of
permanent equity in accordance with ASC 480.
Liquidation
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Company, including a merger, acquisition, or sale of assets where the holders of the
Company’s common stock and preferred stock owned less than 50% of the resulting voting power of the surviving entity, the holders of Series A preferred
stock were entitled to receive prior and in preference to any distribution of the assets of the Company to the holders of Series A-1 preferred stock and
common stock, an amount equal to $1.00 for each share of Series A preferred stock held, plus any declared but unpaid dividends. After payment of the full
liquidation preference to holders of Series A preferred stock, but prior to any distribution or payment to holders of common stock, the holders of Series A-1
preferred were entitled to receive a distribution equal to the original issue price of a share of Series A-1 preferred stock plus any declared but unpaid
dividends. After payment of the full liquidation preference(s) to the Series A and Series A-1 stockholders, the remaining assets legally available for
distribution were distributed ratably to the holders of common stock and preferred stock on an as if converted to common stock basis.
Dividends
Holders of Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock, in preference to the holders of common stock, were entitled to receive cash dividends at the rate of
eight percent of the respective original issue price per annum on each outstanding preferred share on a pari passu basis. Such dividends were payable only
when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors and were non-cumulative. There were no dividends declared, accrued or paid during the period from
inception through December 31, 2012 or the six months ended June 30, 2013.
Conversion
Any share of Series A or Series A-1 preferred stock could have been converted at the option of the holder at any time into shares of common stock at
the Series A preferred conversion price or the Series A-1 preferred conversion price, respectively, then in effect.
Each share of Series A and Series A-1 preferred stock shall have been automatically converted into shares of common stock based upon the theneffective Series A preferred conversion price and the Series A-1 preferred conversion price, respectively, upon the affirmative election of the holders of at
least 60% of the outstanding shares of the Series A preferred stock and Series A-1 preferred stock voting as a single class.
Each share of Series A preferred stock shall have automatically converted into shares of common stock based upon the effective Series A preferred
conversion price upon (i) the affirmative election of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Series A preferred stock; (ii) the
Company’s sale of its common stock in a firmly underwritten public offering in which the per share price is at least three times the Series A original issue
price adjusted for stock splits, dividends, recapitalizations, and the like, and which would result in gross proceeds to the Company of at least $40 million
(prior to deducting underwriting discounts and commissions); or (iii) the affirmative election of at least a majority of the outstanding shares of the Series A
preferred stock following the closing of a firmly underwritten public offering that covered the offer and sale of common stock for the Company that did not
meet the three times original issue price or gross proceeds requirements above. Upon an automatic conversion, any declared and unpaid dividends were to be
paid to the holders of Series A preferred stock.
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Each share of Series A-1 preferred stock shall have automatically converted into shares of common stock based upon the effective Series A-1 preferred
conversion price upon the Company’s sale of its common stock in a firmly underwritten public offering which results in gross proceeds to the Company of at
least $25 million (prior to underwriting discounts and commissions). Upon an automatic conversion, any declared and unpaid dividends shall have been paid
to the holders of Series A-1 preferred stock.
The Series A preferred conversion rate and Series A-1 preferred conversion rate was the $1.00 Series A original issue price, divided by the Series A
preferred conversion price, initially set at $6.986, or 0.143 common shares. The Series A preferred conversion price could have been adjusted in connection
with certain dilutive events; however, there were no such adjustments.
The Company had convertible debt, convertible preferred stock and warrants, all of which were convertible into Series A and Series A-1 preferred
stock. Additionally, the Company has stock options outstanding. The following table presents the number of common shares which could have been issuable
upon the conversion of convertible instruments or exercise of options at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
Convertible preferred stock
Warrants for preferred stock
Common shares under option
Convertible debt
Total shares issuable upon conversion or exercise

June 30, 2013

9,210,999
277,690
706,040
—
10,194,729

December 31, 2012

3,431,865
277,690
211,500
3,430,723
7,351,778

7. Stock Compensation
2008 Incentive Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan
The 2008 Incentive Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the 2008 Plan), administered by the Board of Directors or a committee appointed by the
Board of Directors. The 2008 Plan provides for the granting of stock options and restricted stock to employees and nonemployees of the Company. Options

granted under the 2008 Plan may either be incentive stock options (ISOs), restricted stock awards (RSAs) or nonqualified stock options (NQSOs). Stock
options and restricted stock grants may be granted to employees, directors and consultants. Stock awards under the 2008 Plan may be granted for up to ten
years from the adoption of the 2008 Plan and the vesting of options granted or restricted awards given will be determined individually with each option grant.
Generally, 25 percent of the granted amount vest upon the first anniversary of the option grant with the remainder vesting ratably on the first day of each
calendar quarter for the following three years. Stock options have a 10 year life and expire if not exercised within that period, or if not exercised within
90 days of cessation of employment with the Company. Upon closing of the Company’s initial public offering, 54,129 shares reserved and not then subject to
outstanding options were transferred to the 2013 Plan, and no further awards will be made under the 2008 Plan.
2013 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
On June 7, 2013, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2013 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the 2013 Plan), which became effective on
June 25, 2013. The number of shares of stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2013 Plan is the sum of (i) 1,100,000, plus (ii) 54,129 shares
originally reserved under the 2008 Plan that became available for issuance under the 2013 Plan upon completion of the Company’s initial public offering, plus
(iii) the shares underlying any awards granted under the 2008 Plan that are forfeited, canceled, held back upon the exercise of an option or settlement of an
award to cover the exercise price or tax withholding, reacquired by the Company prior to vesting, satisfied without the issuance of stock or otherwise
terminated (other than be exercise). Additionally, on January 1, 2014 and each January 1 thereafter, the number of shares reserved and available for issuance
under the 2013 Plan shall be cumulatively increased by two and a half percent of the number of shares issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding
December 31 or such lesser number of shares as determined by the plan administrator.
The following table summarizes the activity relating to the Company’s options to purchase common stock for the six months ended June 30, 2013:
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Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2012
Granted
Forfeited or expired
Exercised
Outstanding at June 30, 2013

211,500
545,549
(1,073)
(49,936)
706,040

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Weighted-Average
Price
Per Share

$
$
$
$
$

1.43
3.23
1.54
2.47
2.74

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

7.5

$

141,389

9.0

$

8,018,165

The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock option plan as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:
Weighted-Average
Price
Per Share

Number of
Options

Vested and expected to vest at June 30, 2013
Exercisable at June 30, 2013

674,040
540,126

$
$

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

2.73
2.15

9.0
8.9

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$
$

7,662,092
6,453,501

As of June 30, 2013, there was approximately $1,100,944 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested options, adjusted for forfeitures, which
will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 3.1 years.
8. Income Taxes
There was no provision for income taxes for the three or six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 because the Company has incurred operating losses
since inception. At June 30, 2013, the Company has concluded that it is more likely than not that the Company will not realize the benefit of its deferred tax
assets due to its history of losses. Accordingly, the net deferred tax assets have been fully reserved.
9. Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without
consideration for common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of common share
equivalents outstanding for the period determined using the treasury-stock method. For purposes of this calculation, convertible preferred stock, convertible
debt, warrants for preferred stock and stock options are considered to be common stock equivalents and are only included in the calculation of diluted net loss
per share when their effect is dilutive. Interest expense for convertible debt that is dilutive is added back to net income in the calculation of diluted net loss per
share.
The shares outstanding at the end of the respective periods presented below, after giving effect for the 1-for-6.986 reverse stock split, were excluded
from the calculation of diluted net loss per share due to their anti-dilutive effect:
June 30, 2013

Convertible preferred stock
Warrants for preferred stock
Common shares under option
Unvested restricted stock
Convertible debt
Total potential dilutive shares

9,210,999
277,690
706,040
24,335
—
10,219,064
14

December 31,
2012

3,431,865
277,690
211,500
—
3,430,723
7,351,778
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10. Subsequent Events
Initial Public Offering
On July 1, 2013, the Company completed its IPO of 5,000,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $14.00 per share. The Company received
net proceeds of approximately $62.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. In connection with the IPO, the
following events occurred subsequent to June 30, 2013:
·

On July 1, 2013, the 64,348,092 outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock automatically converted into an aggregate of 9,210,999 shares
of common stock:

·

On July 1, 2013, the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation became effective, authorizing 120,000,000 shares of common
stock and 5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock; and

·

The underwriters in the IPO exercised their over-allotment in full and purchased 750,000 additional shares of common stock on July 11, 2013.
As a result of this exercise, the Company received an additional $9.8 million in proceeds, which is net of underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses.

The table below shows, on a pro forma basis, the impact of the Company’s IPO on certain condensed balance sheet items as if all of the transactions
occurred on June 30, 2013:
Pro forma
June 30,
2013

June 30,
2013

Cash and cash equivalents
Deferred offering costs
Convertible preferred stock
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity

$

$

16,626,859
2,449,637
65,228,086
396
796,508
(52,338,374)

$

$

91,491,859
—
—
15,357
138,424,996
85,305,075
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed financial
statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our final prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) on June 26, 2013.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). These forward-looking statements are based on our management’s belief and
assumptions and on information currently available to management. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements
are reasonable, these statements relate to future events, including our clinical development plans, or our future financial performance, and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements, including in relation to the clinical
development of ETC-1002, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements, including in relation to the clinical development of
ETC-1002, expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are often identified by the use of words such as, but not limited to, “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar terminology. These
statements are only predictions. You should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors, which are, in some cases, beyond our control and that could materially affect results. Factors that may cause actual results to
differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of Part II of
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual events
or results may vary significantly from those implied or projected by the forward-looking statements. No forward-looking statement is a guarantee of future
performance.
The forward-looking statements in this report represent our views as of the date of this quarterly report. Except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.
Overview
Corporate Overview
We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the research, development and commercialization of therapies for the treatment of patients with
elevated levels of LDL-C and other cardiometabolic risk factors. ETC-1002, our lead product candidate, is a novel, first in class, orally available, once-daily
LDL-C lowering small molecule therapy designed to target known lipid and carbohydrate metabolic pathways to lower levels of LDL-C and to avoid side
effects associated with existing LDL-C lowering therapies. We own the exclusive worldwide rights to ETC-1002 and our other product candidates.

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 2008 and commenced our operations in April 2008. Since our inception, we have devoted substantially
all of our resources to developing ETC-1002 and our other product candidates, business planning, raising capital and providing general and administrative
support for these operations. We have funded our operations primarily through the issuance of preferred stock, convertible promissory notes and warrants to
purchase shares of preferred stock. From inception through June 30, 2013, we raised $56.7 million from such transactions.
On July 1, 2013, we completed the initial public offering, or IPO, of our common stock pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1. In the IPO,
we sold an aggregate of 5,000,000 shares of common stock under the registration statement at a public offering price of $14.00 per share. Net proceeds from
the IPO were approximately $62.7 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses. Upon the closing of the IPO, all
outstanding shares of our preferred stock were converted into 9,210,999 shares of common stock. Additionally, as part of the IPO, we granted the
underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to 750,000 additional shares of common stock at the IPO price to cover over-allotments, if any. On July 11, 2013,
the underwriters exercised this option in full. As a result of this exercise, we received an additional $9.8 million in proceeds, net of underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses.
We are a development stage company and do not have any products approved for sale. To date, we have not generated any revenue. We have never been
profitable and, from inception to June 30, 2013, our losses from operations have been $53.1 million. Our net losses were $6.9 million and $3.2 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and $11.2 million and $5.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Substantially all of our net losses resulted from costs incurred in connection with research and development programs, general and administrative costs
associated with our
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operations and the mark-to-market of our liability classified warrants. We expect to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the
foreseeable future. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, including, among others:
· conducting additional clinical studies of ETC-1002 to complete its development;
· seeking regulatory approval for ETC-1002;
· commercializing ETC-1002; and
· operating as a public company.
Accordingly, we will need additional financing to support our continuing operations. We will seek to fund our operations through public or private
equity or debt financings or through other sources, which may include collaborations with third parties. Adequate additional financing may not be available to
us on acceptable terms, or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and our
ability to pursue our business strategy or continue operations. We will need to generate significant revenues to achieve profitability, and we may never do so.
Product Overview
ETC-1002, our lead product candidate, is a novel, first in class, orally available, once-daily LDL-C lowering small molecule therapy designed to target
known lipid and carbohydrate metabolic pathways to lower levels of LDL-C and to avoid side effects associated with existing LDL-C lowering therapies. We
acquired the rights to ETC-1002 from Pfizer in 2008. We own the exclusive worldwide rights to ETC-1002 and we are not obligated to make any royalty or
milestone payments to Pfizer.
In 2011, we incurred $4.6 million in expenses related to our Phase 1b Multiple Dose Tolerance clinical trial (ETC-1002-004), our Phase 2a Proof-ofConcept clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia (ETC-1002-003) which reported top-line results in March 2012, and our Phase 2a Proof-ofConcept clinical study in patients with Hypercholesterolemia and Type 2 Diabetes (ETC-1002-005) which reported top-line results in January 2013.
In 2012, we incurred $5.8 million in expenses related to our Phase 2a Proof-of-Concept clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia and Type 2
Diabetes (ETC-1002-005) and our Phase 2a Proof-of-Concept clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia and a History of Statin Intolerance (ETC1002-006) which reported top-line results in June 2013, and our Phase 2a clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia taking 10 mg of atorvastatin (
ETC-1002-007).
During the six months ended June 30, 2013, we incurred $4.3 million in expenses related to our Phase 2a Proof-of-Concept clinical study in Patients
with Hypercholesterolemia and Type 2 Diabetes (ETC-1002-005), our Phase 2a Proof-of-Concept clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia and a
History of Statin Intolerance (ETC-1002-006) and our Phase 2a clinical study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia taking 10 mg of atorvastatin (ETC-1002007).
We also have two other early-stage programs in pre-clinical development. We licensed one of these candidates from The Cleveland Clinic Foundation,
or CCF, and are obligated to make certain royalty and milestone payments (consisting of cash and common stock) to CCF, including a minimum annual cash
payment of $50,000 during years when a milestone payment is not met. No milestone or royalty payments will be due to any third-party in connection with
the development and commercialization of our other pre-clinical product candidate, ESP41091.
Clinical Developments
ETC-1002-007—Phase 2a Proof of Concept Clinical Study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia taking 10 mg of Atorvastatin
ETC-1002-007 is an eight-week Phase 2a clinical study in 52 patients, who were dosed with ETC-1002, across six participating clinical recruitment
sites in the United States. All patients for this clinical study have been recruited and completed randomization, dosing and their follow up visits. The primary
objective of this clinical study was to evaluate the safety and tolerability of ETC-1002 when added to atorvastatin 10 mg/day in subjects with
hypercholesterolemia, and to test the effects on the pharmacokinetics of atorvastatin and its active metabolites. After completing a lipid-lowering therapy
wash out period of four weeks, patients were placed on atorvastatin calcium (10 mg) for four weeks to achieve steady state plasma levels of atorvastatin.
Patients were then randomized in a 3:1 ratio of active ETC-1002 treatment to placebo for eight weeks. During this clinical study, patients were dosed up to

eight weeks in a forced titration schema of 60 mg, 120 mg, 180 mg and 240 mg doses for two weeks each. We plan to assess overall safety, tolerability,
pharmacokinetic levels of atorvastatin (and its active metabolites) and assess LDL-C lowering in accordance with the study protocol. We expect to report topline results in the first half of September 2013.
ETC-1002-008 — Phase 2b Clinical Study in Patients with Hypercholesterolemia and a History of either Statin Intolerance or Statin Tolerance
We expect the ETC-1002-008 study to be a 12-week Phase 2b study for the treatment of elevated LDL-C levels in approximately 322 patients who are
either statin intolerant or statin tolerant. The purpose of this clinical study will be to inform dosing for our pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial in a population of
statin intolerant patients with hypercholesterolemia. We expect that patients enrolled in the ETC-1002-008 study will complete a four week placebo run-in
period and then be randomized to one of four arms: 1) 120 mg dose of ETC-1002, 2) 180 mg dose of ETC-1002, 3) an active comparator, 10 mg dose of
ezetimibe (a common treatment for statin intolerant patients), or 4) a combination of ETC-1002 and ezetimibe. This Phase 2b clinical study has a parallel
group design and a 12-week duration. The primary objective will be to assess the LDL-C lowering efficacy of ETC-1002 monotherapy versus ezetimibe
monotherapy in patients with elevated LDL-C levels and with or without statin intolerance. In addition, the study will assess the LDL-C lowering efficacy of
ETC-1002 in combination with ezetimibe versus ezetimibe monotherapy. We expect to initiate ETC-1002-008 in October 2013 and complete the study by the
end of 2014.
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Financial Operations Overview
Revenue
To date, we have not generated any revenue, other than grant income. In the future, we may generate revenue from the sale of ETC-1002 or our other
product candidates. If we fail to complete the development of ETC-1002 or our other product candidates, our ability to generate future revenue, and our
results of operations and financial position will be adversely affected.
Research and Development Expenses
Since our inception, we have focused our resources on our research and development activities, including conducting pre-clinical studies and clinical
studies. Our research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred in connection with the development of ETC-1002, which include:
· expenses incurred under agreements with consultants, contract research organizations, or CROs, and investigative sites that conduct our preclinical and clinical studies;
· the cost of acquiring, developing and manufacturing clinical study materials;
· employee-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation and travel expenses;
· allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other supplies; and
· costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements.
We expense research and development costs as incurred. To date, substantially all of our research and development work has been related to ETC-1002.
Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical studies, are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using
data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided to us by our vendors. Our direct research and development expenses consist
principally of external costs, such as fees paid to investigators, consultants, central laboratories and CROs in connection with our clinical studies. We do not
allocate acquiring and manufacturing clinical study materials, salaries, stock-based compensation, employee benefits or other indirect costs related to our
research and development function to specific programs.
Our research and development expenses are expected to increase in the foreseeable future. Costs associated with ETC-1002 will increase as we conduct
our Phase 2b clinical studies and initiate our Phase 3 clinical studies. We cannot determine with certainty the duration and completion costs associated with
the ongoing or future clinical studies of ETC-1002. Also, we cannot conclude with certainty if, or when, we will generate revenue from the commercialization
and sale of ETC-1002 or our other product candidates for which we obtain regulatory approval, if ever. We may never succeed in obtaining regulatory
approval for any of our product candidates, including ETC-1002. The duration, costs and timing associated with the development and commercialization of
ETC-1002 and our other product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including uncertainties associated with the results of our clinical studies and
our ability to obtain regulatory approval. For example, if the FDA or another regulatory authority were to require us to conduct clinical studies beyond those
that we currently anticipate will be required for the completion of clinical development or post-commercialization clinical studies of ETC-1002, or if we
experience significant delays in enrollment in any of our clinical studies, we could be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on
the completion of clinical development or post-commercialization clinical studies of ETC-1002.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses primarily consist of salaries and related costs for personnel, including stock-based compensation and travel
expenses, associated with our executive, accounting and finance, operational and other administrative functions. Other general and administrative expenses
include facility related costs, communication expenses and professional fees for legal, patent prosecution, protection and review, consulting and accounting
services.
Interest Expense
Interest expense consists primarily of non-cash interest costs associated with our convertible promissory notes.
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Stock-Based Compensation
We typically grant stock-based compensation to new employees in connection with their commencement of employment and to existing employees in
connection with annual performance reviews. We account for all stock-based compensation payments issued to employees, consultants and directors using an
option pricing model for estimating fair value. Accordingly, stock-based compensation expense is measured based on the estimated fair value of the awards
on the date of grant, net of estimated forfeitures. Compensation expense is recognized for the portion that is ultimately expected to vest over the period during
which the recipient renders the required services to us using the straight-line method. In accordance with authoritative guidance, the fair value of nonemployee stock-based awards is re-measured as the awards vest, and the resulting value, if any, is recognized as expense during the period the related services
are rendered.
Warrant Liability
Our previously outstanding warrants to purchase shares of preferred stock (which became exercisable for shares of common stock upon the closing of
our IPO on July 1, 2013) have provisions by which the underlying issuance is contingently redeemable based on events outside of our control and as such are
recorded as a liability in accordance with ASC 480-10. Warrants classified as derivative liabilities are recorded on our balance sheet at fair value on the date
of issuance and are marked-to-market on each subsequent reporting period. Non-cash changes in the fair value at each reporting period are recognized in the
statement of operations.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our
financial statements. We evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis, including those related to accrued expenses and stock-based
compensation. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, contractual milestones and other various factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to our financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.
Results of Operations
Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012:

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

Three Months Ended June 30,
2013
2012
(in thousands)

$

$

3,100
1,172
(4,272)
(108)
(2,545)
4
(6,921)

$

$

Change

2,330
534
(2,864)
(303)
—
1
(3,166)

$

$

770
638
(1,408)
195
(2,545)
3
(3,755)
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Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2013 were $3.1 million, compared to $2.3 million for the three months ended
June, 2012, an increase of $0.8 million. The increase in research and development expenses is primarily related to the further clinical development of ETC1002 in our Phase 2 clinical program.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2013 were $1.2 million, compared to $0.5 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2012, an increase of $0.7 million. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable to an increase in professional
services provided to us and increases in our headcount.
Interest expense
Non-cash interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2013 was $0.1 million, compared to $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30,
2012, a $0.2 million decrease. The decrease in interest expense was primarily related the conversion of the Pfizer convertible promissory note on May 29,
2013.

Change in fair value of warrant liability
The outstanding warrants to purchase 1,940,000 shares of our Series A preferred stock require liability classification and mark-to-market accounting at
each reporting period in accordance with ASC 480-10. The fair values of the warrants were determined using the Black Scholes valuation model and resulted
in the recognition of a loss of approximately $2.5 million related to the change in fair values for the three months ended June 30, 2013.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net for the three months ended June 30, 2013 was income of approximately $4,000 compared to income of approximately
$1,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2012, a $3,000 increase. This increase was primarily related an increase in interest income on our money market
funds.
Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012:

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Other income (expense), net
Net loss

Six Months Ended June 30,
2013
2012
(in thousands)

$

$

5,193
2,423
(7,616)
(936)
(2,587)
(21)
(11,160)

$

$

Change

3,887
1,166
(5,053)
(564)
—
2
(5,615)

$

$

1,306
1,257
(2,563)
(372)
(2,587)
(23)
(5,545)
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Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2013 were $5.2 million, compared to $3.9 million for the six months ended June
30, 2012, an increase of $1.3 million. The increase in research and development expenses primarily related to the further clinical development of ETC-1002
in our Phase 2 clinical program.
General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2013 were $2.4 million, compared to $1.2 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2012, an increase of $1.2 million. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily attributable to an increase in professional
services used and increases in our headcount.
Interest expense
Non-cash interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2013 was $0.9 million, compared to $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2012,
a $0.3 million increase. The increase in interest expense was primarily related to our issuance of convertible promissory notes in January, September and
November 2012, which had a 10% interest rate before being converted into an aggregate of 16,623,092 shares of Series A preferred stock in February 2013 as
well as the accrued interest on the 8.931% convertible promissory note issued to Pfizer, which was subsequently converted into 6,750,000 shares of Series A1 preferred stock on May 29, 2013.
Change in fair value of warrant liability
The outstanding warrants to purchase 1,940,000 shares of our Series A preferred stock require liability classification and mark-to-market accounting at
each reporting period in accordance with ASC 480-10. The fair values of the warrants were determined using the Black Scholes valuation model and resulted
in the recognition of a loss of approximately $2.6 million related to the change in fair values for the six months ended June 30, 2013.
Other income (expense), net
Other income (expense), net for the six months ended June 30, 2013 was an expense of approximately $21,000 compared to income of approximately
$2,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012, a $23,000 increase in expense. This increase was primarily related to an impairment in the value of our assets
held for sale to adjust carrying values to fair value.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have funded our operations since inception through private placements of preferred stock, convertible promissory notes and warrants to purchase
shares of preferred stock. To date, we have not generated any revenue, and we anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future.
As of June 30, 2013, our primary sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents, which totaled $16.6 million. We invest our cash equivalents
and short-term investments in highly liquid, interest-bearing investment-grade and government securities to preserve principal.
In July 2013, we completed our IPO pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1. In the IPO, we issued and sold an aggregate of 5,750,000 shares
of common stock, including the underwriters’ exercise in full of their over-allotment option, under the registration statement at a public offering price of

$14.00 per share. Net proceeds were approximately $72.5 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses.
The following table summarizes the primary sources and uses of cash for the periods presented below:
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Cash (used in) operating activities
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2013
2012
(in thousands)

(5,806)
38
15,883
10,115

$

$

(5,532)
(6)
6,017
478

Operating Activities
We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant costs in the areas of research and development, regulatory and other clinical study costs,
associated with our development of ETC-1002.
Net cash used in operating activities totaled $5.8 million and $5.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The primary
use of our cash was to fund the development of ETC-1002, adjusted for non-cash expenses, such as depreciation and amortization, interest expense, mark-tomarket of our warrant liability and changes in working capital.
Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities of $38,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2013 consisted primarily of the sales of property and equipment,
partially off-set by our purchases of certain assets. Net cash used in investing activities of $6,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2012 consisted primarily
of property and equipment purchases, partially off-set by our sale of certain assets.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2013 consisted primarily of the issuance and sale of 17,000,000 shares of
our Series A preferred stock at a price of $1.00 per share for gross proceeds of $17.0 million. Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months
ended June 30, 2012 consisted primarily of the issuance of convertible promissory notes.
Plan of Operations and Funding Requirements
ETC-1002 is currently in Phase 2 clinical development, and we expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing operating losses for the
foreseeable future. We expect that the net proceeds from our initial public offering, together with our existing cash and cash equivalents, will enable us to
fund our operating expenses and capital expenditures requirements through at least the end of 2015 and that we will likely need to raise additional capital
thereafter to continue to fund the further development of ETC-1002 and our operations. We expect to announce top-line results from our Phase 2b ETC-1002008 clinical study in the fourth quarter of 2014 and to have an end-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in the first quarter of 2015. We have based these
estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we may use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Because of the
numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development and commercialization of ETC-1002, and the extent to which we may enter into
collaborations with pharmaceutical partners regarding the development and commercialization of ETC-1002, we are unable to estimate the amounts of
increased capital outlays and operating expenses associated with completing the development and commercialization of ETC-1002. Our future funding
requirements will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
· our ability to successfully develop and commercialize ETC-1002 and our other product candidates;
· the costs, timing and outcomes of our ongoing and planned clinical studies of ETC-1002;
· the time and cost necessary to obtain regulatory approvals for ETC-1002, if at all;
· our ability to establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize ETC-1002 in the United States and abroad or our ability
to establish any future collaboration or commercialization arrangements on favorable terms, if at all;
· the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims; and
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· the implementation of operational and financial information technology.
Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of equity
offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. We do not have any committed external source of funds. To the
extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted, and
the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Debt financing, if
available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making
capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with

pharmaceutical partners, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams or ETC-1002 or grant licenses on terms that
may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or through collaborations, strategic alliances or
licensing arrangements when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future commercialization efforts or
grant rights to develop and market ETC-1002 that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.
Contractual Obligations and Commitments
We lease office and laboratory space in Plymouth, MI under an operating lease agreement expiring on October 2, 2013. We have options to renew this
lease for two additional five year terms. The following table summarizes our future minimum lease obligations as of December 31, 2012:
Less than
1 Year

Total

Operating leases
Total

$
$

287
287

$
$

287
287

1-3 Years
(in thousands)

$
$

—
—

More than
5 Years

3-5 Years

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

We are also party to a license agreement pursuant to which we are obligated to make future minimum annual payments of $50,000 in years during
which milestone payments are not triggered under the agreement. In addition, we are also contractually obligated to issue up to an aggregate of 11,451 shares
of common stock upon various milestones set forth in the agreement.
There have been no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments outside the ordinary course of business from those disclosed
above.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not currently have, nor did we have during the periods presented, any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Securities and Exchange
Commission rules.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $16.6 million and $6.5 million at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. The primary
objectives of our investment activities are to preserve principal, provide liquidity and maximize income without significantly increasing risk. Our primary
exposure to market risk relates to fluctuations in interest rates which are affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. Given the short-term
nature of our cash equivalents, we believe that a sudden change in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on our financial
condition and/or results of operation. We do not have any foreign currency or other derivative financial instruments.
We do not believe that our cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale investments have significant risk of default or illiquidity. While we believe our
cash and cash equivalents do not contain excessive risk, we cannot provide absolute assurance that in the future our investments will not be subject to adverse
changes in market value. In addition, we maintain significant amounts of cash and cash equivalents at one or more financial institutions that are in excess of
federally insured limits.
Inflation generally affects us by increasing our cost of labor and clinical study costs. We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our
results of operations during the three or six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or
submit under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s
rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our President and Chief Executive Officer, who is our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
As of June 30, 2013, our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934). Our
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving
their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer has concluded based upon the evaluation described above that, as of June 30, 2013, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other public filings before making an investment decision. Our business, prospects, financial condition, or
operating results could be harmed by any of these risks, as well as other risks not currently known to us or that we currently consider immaterial. If any such
risks or uncertainties actually occur, our business, financial condition or operating results could differ materially from the plans, projections and other
forward-looking statements included in the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
elsewhere in this report and in our other public filings. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks, and as a result, you
may lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Related to our Business and the Clinical Development and Commercialization of ETC-1002
We depend almost entirely on the success of one product candidate, ETC-1002, which is still in Phase 2 clinical development. We cannot be certain that
we will be able to obtain regulatory approval for, or successfully commercialize, ETC-1002.
We currently have only one product candidate, ETC-1002, in clinical development, and our business depends almost entirely on its successful clinical
development, regulatory approvals and commercialization. We currently have no drug products for sale and may never be able to develop marketable drug
products. ETC-1002, which is currently in Phase 2 clinical studies, will require substantial additional clinical development, testing, and regulatory approvals
before we are permitted to commence its commercialization. Our other product candidates are still in pre-clinical development stages. None of our product
candidates have advanced into a pivotal study, and it may be years before such studies are initiated, if ever. The clinical studies of our product candidates are,
and the manufacturing and marketing of our product candidates will be, subject to extensive and rigorous review and regulation by numerous government
authorities in the United States and in other countries where we intend to test and, if approved, market any product candidate. Before obtaining regulatory
approvals for the commercial sale of any product candidate, we must demonstrate through pre-clinical testing and clinical studies that the product candidate is
safe and effective for use in each target indication. This process can take many years and may include post-marketing studies and surveillance, including a
Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS program, which will require the expenditure of substantial resources beyond the proceeds we raised in our
initial public offering. Of the large number of drugs in development in the United States, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or any other
foreign regulatory approval process and are commercialized. Accordingly, even if we are able to obtain the requisite financing to continue to fund our
development and clinical programs, we cannot assure you that ETC-1002 or any other of our product candidates will be successfully developed or
commercialized.
We are not permitted to market ETC-1002 in the United States until we receive approval of a New Drug Application, or NDA, from the FDA, or in any
foreign countries until we receive the requisite approval from such countries. As a condition to submitting an NDA to the FDA for ETC-1002 to treat patients
with hypercholesterolemia, we currently expect to complete two Phase 2b clinical studies, two pivotal Phase 3 clinical studies and one long-term safety study.
We have not commenced any of these clinical studies. Obtaining approval of an NDA is a complex, lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, and the FDA
may delay, limit or deny approval of ETC-1002 for many reasons, including, among others:
· we may not be able to demonstrate that ETC-1002 is safe and effective in treating hypercholesterolemia to the satisfaction of the FDA;
· the results of our clinical studies may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA for marketing approval;
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· the FDA may disagree with the number, design, size, conduct or implementation of our clinical studies;
· the FDA may require that we conduct additional clinical studies, such as a cardiovascular outcomes trial;
· the FDA may not release its partial clinical hold on ETC-1002 to permit us to conduct a clinical study for more than six months;
· the FDA or an applicable foreign regulatory agency may not approve the formulation, specifications or labeling of ETC-1002;
· the clinical research organizations, or CROs, that we retain to conduct our clinical studies may take actions outside of our control that materially
adversely impact our clinical studies;
· the FDA may find the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical studies insufficient to demonstrate that ETC-1002’s clinical and other benefits
outweigh its safety risks;
· the FDA may disagree with our interpretation of data from our pre-clinical studies and clinical studies;
· the FDA may not accept data generated at our clinical study sites;
· if our NDA, if and when submitted, is reviewed by an advisory committee, the FDA may have difficulties scheduling an advisory committee
meeting in a timely manner or the advisory committee may recommend against approval of our application or may recommend that the FDA
require, as a condition of approval, additional pre-clinical studies or clinical studies, limitations in approved labeling or distribution and use
restrictions;
· the FDA may require the development of a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, or REMS, as a condition of approval or post-approval;
· the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency may not approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers with
which we contract; or
· the FDA may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations.

Any of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, could jeopardize our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and successfully market
ETC-1002. Moreover, because our business is almost entirely dependent upon this one product candidate, any such setback in our pursuit of regulatory
approval would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
Failures or delays in the commencement or completion of our Phase 2b or pivotal Phase 3 clinical studies of ETC-1002 could result in increased costs to
us and could delay, prevent or limit our ability to generate revenue and continue our business.
We have not commenced our Phase 2b or pivotal Phase 3 clinical studies. Successful completion of such clinical studies is a prerequisite to submitting
an NDA to the FDA and, consequently, the ultimate approval and commercial marketing of ETC-1002. We do not know whether our Phase 2b or pivotal
Phase 3 clinical studies will begin or be completed on schedule, if at all, as the commencement and completion of clinical studies can be delayed or prevented
for a number of reasons, including, among others:
· the FDA may deny permission to proceed with Phase 3 clinical trials, including not releasing its partial clinical hold on ETC-1002 to permit us to
conduct a clinical study for more than six months, or may place a clinical study on hold;
· delays in reaching or failing to reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective CROs and study sites, the terms of which can be subject to
extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and study sites;
· inadequate quantity or quality of a product candidate or other materials necessary to conduct clinical studies;
· difficulties or delays obtaining institutional review board, or IRB, approval to conduct a clinical study at a prospective site or sites;
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· challenges in recruiting and enrolling patients to participate in clinical studies or in a cardiovascular outcomes study, if one were to be required,
including the size and nature of the patient population, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, eligibility criteria for the clinical study, the nature
of the clinical study protocol, the availability of approved effective treatments for the relevant disease and competition from other clinical study
programs for similar indications;
· severe or unexpected drug-related side effects experienced by patients in a clinical study, including instances of muscle pain or weakness or other
side effects previously identified in our completed clinical studies;
· reports from pre-clinical or clinical testing of other cardiometabolic therapies that raise safety or efficacy concerns; and
· difficulties retaining patients who have enrolled in a clinical study but may be prone to withdraw due to rigors of the study, lack of efficacy, side
effects, personal issues or loss of interest.
Clinical studies may also be delayed or terminated as a result of ambiguous or negative interim results. In addition, a clinical study may be suspended
or terminated by us, the FDA, the IRBs at the sites where the IRBs are overseeing a clinical study, a data safety monitoring board, or DSMB, overseeing the
clinical study at issue or other regulatory authorities due to a number of factors, including, among others:
· failure to conduct the clinical study in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols;
· inspection of the clinical study operations or study sites by the FDA or other regulatory authorities that reveals deficiencies or violations that
require us to undertake corrective action, including the imposition of a clinical hold;
· unforeseen safety issues, including any that could be identified in our ongoing pre-clinical carcinogenicity studies, adverse side effects or lack of
effectiveness;
· changes in government regulations or administrative actions;
· problems with clinical supply materials; and
· lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical study.
Positive results from Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical studies of ETC-1002 are not necessarily predictive of the results of our planned Phase 2b and Phase 3
clinical studies of ETC-1002. If we cannot replicate the positive results from our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical studies of ETC-1002 in our Phase 2b and
Phase 3 clinical studies, we may be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize ETC-1002.
Positive results from ETC-1002-006, our Phase 2a clinical study, may not necessarily be predictive of the results from ETC-1002-007, our ongoing
Phase 2a clinical study for which we expect to announce top-line efficacy, safety and tolerability results in early September 2013. Similarly, even if we are
able to complete our planned Phase 2b and pivotal Phase 3 clinical studies of ETC-1002 according to our current development timeline, the positive results
from our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical studies of ETC-1002 may not be replicated in our Phase 2b or pivotal Phase 3 clinical study results. Many companies in
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical studies after achieving positive results in early stage
development, and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, pre-clinical findings
made while clinical studies were underway or safety or efficacy observations made in clinical studies, including previously unreported adverse events. Our
Phase 2b clinical studies will evaluate the safety and efficacy of ETC-1002 in statin-intolerant patients and as an add-on to existing statin treatments for
patients with residual risk. We expect that our Phase 3 clinical studies will evaluate the safety and efficacy of ETC-1002 in these same patient populations.
Nevertheless, the results from our Phase 2a clinical studies for ETC-1002, including ETC-1002-006 and ETC-1002-007, may not be predictive of the results
we may obtain in our Phase 2b or Phase 3 clinical studies of ETC-1002. Moreover, pre-clinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying
interpretations and analyses, and many companies that believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in pre-clinical studies and clinical studies
nonetheless failed to obtain FDA approval. If we fail to-obtain positive results in our Phase 2b and Phase 3 clinical studies of ETC-1002, the development

timeline and regulatory approval and commercialization prospects for our leading product candidate, and, correspondingly, our business and financial
prospects, would be materially adversely affected.
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We may need substantial additional capital in the future. If additional capital is not available, we will have to delay, reduce or cease operations.
Although we believe that the net proceeds from our initial public offering will be sufficient to fund our operations through the completion of our
currently anticipated Phase 2b clinical studies and end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA, we will likely need to raise additional capital thereafter to continue
to fund the further development of ETC-1002 and our operations. We expect to announce top-line results from our latest currently anticipated Phase 2b
clinical studies in the fourth quarter of 2014 and to have our end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in the first quarter of 2015. Our future capital requirements
may be substantial and will depend on many factors including:
· the scope, size, rate of progress, results and costs of initiating and completing our Phase 2b clinical studies of ETC-1002 and our operating costs
incurred as we conduct these studies and through our planned end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA, for which we currently estimate that we will
use substantially all of the net proceeds from our initial public offering;
· the scope, size, rate of progress, results and costs of initiating and completing our Phase 3 clinical program of ETC-1002, which currently includes
two pivotal Phase 3 clinical studies and one long-term safety study, for which we only plan on using net proceeds from our initial public offering
to the extent they are available;
· the cost, timing and outcome of our efforts to obtain marketing approval for ETC-1002 in the United States, including to fund the preparation and
filing of an NDA with the FDA for ETC-1002 and to satisfy related FDA requirements;
· the number and characteristics of any additional product candidates we develop or acquire;
· the costs associated with commercializing ETC-1002 or any future product candidates if we receive marketing approval, including the cost and
timing of developing sales and marketing capabilities or entering into strategic collaborations to market and sell ETC-1002 or any future product
candidates;
· the cost of manufacturing ETC-1002 or any future product candidates and any products we successfully commercialize; and
· the costs associated with general corporate activities, such as the cost of filing, prosecuting and enforcing patent claims.
Changing circumstances may cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate. Because the outcome of any clinical study is
highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the development, regulatory approval and
commercialization of ETC-1002 and any future product candidates. Additional financing may not be available when we need it or may not be available on
terms that are favorable to us. In addition, we may seek additional capital due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe
we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. If adequate funds are unavailable to us on a timely basis, or at all, we may not be able to
continue the development of ETC-1002 or any future product candidate, or to commercialize ETC-1002 or any future product candidate, if approved, unless
we find a partner.
We are a development stage biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and have not generated any revenue from product sales. We
have incurred significant operating losses since our inception, and anticipate that we will incur continued losses for the foreseeable future.
We are a development stage company with a limited operating history on which to base your investment decision. Biopharmaceutical product
development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. We were incorporated in January 2008. Our operations to date have
been limited primarily to organizing and staffing our company and conducting research and development activities for ETC-1002. We have never generated
any revenue from product sales. We have not obtained regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates. As such, we are subject to all the risks
described in this prospectus incident to the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of new pharmaceutical products and we may encounter
unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors.
Since our inception, we have focused substantially all of our efforts and financial resources on developing ETC-1002, which is currently in Phase 2
clinical development. We have funded our operations to date through proceeds from sales of preferred stock and convertible debt and have incurred losses in
each year since our inception. Our net losses were $11.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013, $11.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012
and $10.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. As of June 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $53.1 million. Substantially all of our
operating losses resulted from costs incurred
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in connection with our development program and from general and administrative costs associated with our operations. We expect to incur increasing levels
of operating losses over the next several years and for the foreseeable future. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will
continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital. We expect our research and development expenses to significantly
increase in connection with our additional clinical studies of ETC-1002 and development of any other product candidates we may choose to pursue. In
addition, if we obtain marketing approval for ETC-1002, we will also incur significant sales, marketing and outsourced manufacturing expenses. As a newly
public company, we will incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant and
increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products,
we are unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all. Even if we do become profitable, we may not be able to
sustain or increase our profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.

Changes in regulatory requirements, FDA guidance or unanticipated events during our Phase 2b or Phase 3 clinical studies of ETC-1002 may occur,
which may result in changes to clinical study protocols or additional clinical study requirements, such as the initiation or completion of a cardiovascular
outcomes trial, which could result in increased costs to us and could delay our development timeline.
Changes in regulatory requirements, FDA guidance or unanticipated events during our clinical studies may force us to amend clinical study protocols or
the FDA may impose additional clinical study requirements. Amendments to our clinical study protocols would require resubmission to the FDA and IRBs
for review and approval, which may adversely impact the cost, timing and/or successful completion of a clinical study. If we experience delays completing—
or if we terminate—any of our Phase 2b or Phase 3 clinical studies, or if we are required to conduct additional clinical studies, such as a cardiovascular
outcomes trial, the commercial prospects for ETC-1002 may be harmed and our ability to generate product revenue will be delayed. If the FDA requires us to
conduct a cardiovascular outcomes trial, we may not be able to identify and enroll the requisite number of patients in that study. Even if we are successful in
enrolling patients in a cardiovascular outcomes study, we may not ultimately be able to demonstrate that lowering LDL-C levels using ETC-1002 provides
patients with an incremental lowering of cardiovascular disease risks and our failure to do so may delay or prejudice our ability to obtain FDA approval for
ETC-1002. Our current development timeline for ETC-1002 does not contemplate the completion of a cardiovascular outcomes trial. Any such study, if
required, would be costly and time-consuming and, regardless of the outcome, would adversely affect our development timeline and financial condition.
Even if we receive marketing approval for ETC-1002, we may still face future development and regulatory difficulties.
Even if we receive marketing approval for ETC-1002, regulatory authorities may still impose significant restrictions on ETC-1002’s indicated uses or
marketing or impose ongoing requirements for potentially costly post-approval studies, such as a cardiovascular outcomes trial. ETC-1002 will also be
subject to ongoing FDA requirements governing the packaging, storage, labeling, advertising and promotion of the product, recordkeeping and submission of
safety updates and other post-marketing information. The FDA has significant post-marketing authority, including, for example, the authority to require
labeling changes based on new safety information and to require post-marketing studies or clinical studies to evaluate serious safety risks related to the use of
a drug product. The FDA also has the authority to require, as part of an NDA or post-approval, the submission of a REMS. Any REMS required by the FDA
may lead to increased costs to assure compliance with post-approval regulatory requirements and potential requirements or restrictions on the sale of
approved products, all of which could lead to lower sales volume and revenue.
Manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities
for compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices and other regulations. If we or a regulatory agency discover problems with ETC-1002, such as
adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where ETC-1002 is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose
restrictions on ETC-1002, the manufacturer or us, including requiring withdrawal of ETC-1002 from the market or suspension of manufacturing. If we, ETC1002 or the manufacturing facilities for ETC-1002 fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a regulatory agency may, among other things:
· issue warning letters or untitled letters;
· seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal penalties or monetary fines;
· suspend or withdraw marketing approval;
· suspend any ongoing clinical studies;
· refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to applications submitted by us;
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· suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or
· seize or detain products, refuse to permit the import or export of products, or request that we initiate a product recall.
Even if we receive marketing approval for ETC-1002 in the United States, we may never receive regulatory approval to market ETC-1002 outside of the
United States.
We have not yet selected any markets outside of the United States where we intend to seek regulatory approval to market ETC-1002. In order to market
any product outside of the United States, however, we must establish and comply with the numerous and varying efficacy, safety and other regulatory
requirements of other countries. Approval procedures vary among countries and can involve additional product candidate testing and additional administrative
review periods. The time required to obtain approvals in other countries might differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. The marketing approval
processes in other countries may include all of the risks detailed above regarding FDA approval in the United States as well as other risks. In particular, in
many countries outside of the United States, products must receive pricing and reimbursement approval before the product can be commercialized. Obtaining
this approval can result in substantial delays in bringing products to market in such countries. Marketing approval in one country does not ensure marketing
approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining marketing approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in others.
Failure to obtain marketing approval in other countries or any delay or other setback in obtaining such approval would impair our ability to commercialize
ETC-1002 in such foreign markets. Any such impairment would reduce the size of our potential market, which could have a material adverse impact on our
business, results of operations and prospects.
Even if we receive marketing approval for ETC-1002, it may not achieve broad market acceptance, which would limit the revenue that we generate from
its sales.
The commercial success of ETC-1002, if approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, will depend upon the awareness and acceptance of ETC1002 among the medical community, including physicians, patients and healthcare payors. Market acceptance of ETC-1002, if approved, will depend on a
number of factors, including, among others:
· ETC-1002’s demonstrated ability to treat statin intolerant patients with hypercholesterolemia and, if required by any applicable regulatory
authority in connection with the approval for this or any other indication, to provide patients with incremental cardiovascular disease benefits, as
compared with other available therapies;

· the relative convenience and ease of administration of ETC-1002, including as compared with other treatments for patients with
hypercholesterolemia;
· the prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects such as muscle pain or weakness;
· limitations or warnings contained in the labeling approved for ETC-1002 by the FDA;
· availability of alternative treatments, including a number of competitive LDL-C lowering therapies already approved or expected to be
commercially launched in the near future;
· pricing and cost effectiveness;
· the effectiveness of our sales and marketing strategies;
· our ability to increase awareness of ETC-1002 through marketing efforts;
· our ability to obtain sufficient third-party coverage or reimbursement; and
· the willingness of patients to pay out-of-pocket in the absence of third-party coverage.
If ETC-1002 is approved but does not achieve an adequate level of acceptance by patients, physicians and payors, we may not generate sufficient
revenue from ETC-1002 to become or remain profitable. Before granting reimbursement approval, healthcare payors may require us to demonstrate that, in
addition to lowering elevated LDL-C levels, ETC-1002 also provides incremental cardiovascular disease benefits to patients. Our efforts to educate the
medical community and third-party payors about the benefits of ETC-1002 may require significant resources and may never be successful.
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If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell ETC-1002, we may not be able
to generate any revenue.
We do not currently have an infrastructure for the sales, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical products. In order to market ETC-1002, if
approved by the FDA or any other regulatory body, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial, and other non-technical capabilities or make
arrangements with third parties to perform these services. If we are unable to establish adequate sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, whether
independently or with third parties, or if we are unable to do so on commercially reasonable terms, our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects will be materially adversely affected.
Even if we obtain marketing approval for ETC-1002, physicians and patients using other LDL-C lowering therapies may choose not to switch to our
product.
Physicians are often reluctant to switch their patients from existing therapies even when new and potentially more effective, safe or convenient
treatments enter the market. In addition, patients often acclimate to the brand or type of therapy that they are currently taking and do not want to switch unless
their physicians recommend switching products or they are required to switch therapies due to lack of reimbursement for existing therapies. If physicians or
patients are reluctant to switch from existing therapies to ETC-1002, if approved, our operating results and financial condition would be materially adversely
affected.
Guidelines and recommendations published by various organizations may adversely affect the use or commercial viability of ETC-1002, if approved.
Government agencies issue regulations and guidelines directly applicable to us and to ETC-1002, including guidelines generally relating to
therapeutically significant LDL-C levels. In addition, professional societies, practice management groups, private health or science foundations and other
organizations involved in the research, treatment and prevention of various diseases from time to time publish guidelines or recommendations to the medical
and patient communities. These various sorts of recommendations may relate to such matters as product usage and use of related or competing therapies. For
example, organizations such as the American Heart Association have made recommendations about therapies in the cardiovascular therapeutics market.
Changes to these existing recommendations or other guidelines advocating alternative therapies could result in decreased use of ETC-1002, if approved,
which would adversely affect our results of operations.
Even if approved, reimbursement policies could limit our ability to sell ETC-1002.
Market acceptance and sales of ETC-1002 will depend on reimbursement policies and may be affected by healthcare reform measures. Government
authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and
establish reimbursement levels for those medications. Cost containment is a primary concern in the U.S. healthcare industry and elsewhere. Government
authorities and these third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. We
cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for ETC-1002 and, if reimbursement is available, the level of such reimbursement. Reimbursement may
impact the demand for, or the price of, ETC-1002. If reimbursement is not available or is available only at limited levels, we may not be able to successfully
commercialize ETC-1002.
In some foreign countries, particularly in Canada and European countries, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to strict governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take six to 12 months or longer after the receipt of regulatory approval and
product launch. To obtain favorable reimbursement for the indications sought or pricing approval in some countries, we may be required to conduct a clinical
study that compares the cost-effectiveness of ETC-1002 with other available therapies. If reimbursement for ETC-1002 is unavailable in any country in which
we seek reimbursement, if it is limited in scope or amount, if it is conditioned upon our completion of additional clinical studies, or if pricing is set at
unsatisfactory levels, our operating results could be materially adversely affected.

Our product development programs for candidates other than ETC-1002 may require substantial financial resources and may ultimately be unsuccessful.
In addition to the development of ETC-1002, we may pursue the development of our other two early-stage development programs. Neither of our other
potential product candidates has commenced any clinical studies, and there are a number of FDA requirements that we must satisfy before we can commence
such clinical studies. Satisfaction of these requirements will entail substantial time, effort and financial resources. We may never satisfy these requirements.
Any time, effort and financial resources we expend on our other two early-stage development programs may adversely affect our ability to continue
development and commercialization of ETC-1002, and we may never commence clinical studies of such development programs despite expending significant
resources in pursuit of their
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development. If we do commence clinical studies of our other potential product candidates, such product candidates may never be approved by the FDA.
Recent federal legislation will increase pressure to reduce prices of pharmaceutical products paid for by Medicare, which could materially adversely
affect our revenue, if any, and our results of operations.
In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, also called the MMA, changed the way Medicare
covers and pays for pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced a new
reimbursement methodology based on average sales prices for physician-administered drugs. In addition, this legislation provided authority for limiting the
number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. As a result of this legislation and the expansion of federal coverage of drug products, we expect
that there will be additional pressure to reduce costs. These cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could decrease the scope of
coverage and the price that we receive for any approved products and could seriously harm our business. While the MMA applies only to drug benefits for
Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policies and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates, and any
reduction in reimbursement that results from the MMA may cause a similar reduction in payments from private payors. This legislation may pose an even
greater risk to ETC-1002 than some other pharmaceutical products because a significant portion of the target patient population for ETC-1002 would likely be
over 65 years of age and, therefore, many such patients will be covered by Medicare.
In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or
collectively, the PPACA, became law in the United States. The goal of the PPACA is to reduce the cost of healthcare and substantially change the way
healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers. While we cannot predict what impact on federal reimbursement policies this legislation will
have in general or on our business specifically, the PPACA may result in downward pressure on pharmaceutical reimbursement, which could negatively affect
market acceptance of ETC-1002, if approved, or any of our future products. In 2012, members of the U.S. Congress and some state legislatures sought to
overturn certain provisions of the PPACA including those concerning the mandatory purchase of insurance. However, on June 28, 2012, the United States
Supreme Court upheld the constitutionality of these provisions. Members of the U.S. Congress have since proposed a number of legislative initiatives,
including possible repeal of the PPACA. We cannot predict the outcome or impact of current proposals or whether new proposals will be made or adopted,
when they may be adopted or what impact they may have on us if they are adopted.
Finally, the availability of generic LDL-C lowering treatments may also substantially reduce the likelihood of reimbursement for branded counterparts
or other competitive LDL-C lowering therapies, such as ETC-1002 if it is approved for commercial distribution. If we fail to successfully secure and maintain
reimbursement coverage for our products or are significantly delayed in doing so, we will have difficulty achieving market acceptance of our products and
our business will be harmed.
Recent federal legislation and actions by state and local governments may permit reimportation of drugs from foreign countries into the United States,
including foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lower prices than in the United States, which could materially adversely affect our operating
results.
We may face competition for ETC-1002, if approved, from cheaper LDL-C lowering therapies sourced from foreign countries that have placed price
controls on pharmaceutical products. The MMA contains provisions that may change U.S. importation laws and expand pharmacists’ and wholesalers’ ability
to import cheaper versions of an approved drug and competing products from Canada, where there are government price controls. These changes to U.S.
importation laws will not take effect unless and until the Secretary of Health and Human Services certifies that the changes will pose no additional risk to the
public’s health and safety and will result in a significant reduction in the cost of products to consumers. The Secretary of Health and Human Services has so
far declined to approve a reimportation plan. Proponents of drug reimportation may attempt to pass legislation that would directly allow reimportation under
certain circumstances. Legislation or regulations allowing the reimportation of drugs, if enacted, could decrease the price we receive for any products that we
may develop, including ETC-1002, and adversely affect our future revenues and prospects for profitability.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. If we are found to have
improperly promoted off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability.
The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about prescription products, such as ETC-1002 if
approved. In particular, a product may not be promoted for uses that are not approved by the FDA or other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product’s
approved labeling. If we receive marketing approval for ETC-1002 as a therapy for lowering LDL-C levels in statin intolerant patients with
hypercholesterolemia, the first indication we intend to pursue, physicians may nevertheless prescribe ETC-1002 to their patients in a manner that is
inconsistent with the approved label, potentially including as a therapy in addition to statins. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may
become subject to significant liability.
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The federal government has levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and has enjoined several companies from
engaging in off-label promotion. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements or permanent

injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. If we cannot successfully manage the promotion of ETC-1002, if approved,
we could become subject to significant liability, which would materially adversely affect our business and financial condition.
Our market is subject to intense competition. If we are unable to compete effectively, our opportunity to generate revenue from the sale of ETC-1002, if
approved, will be materially adversely affected.
The LDL-C lowering therapies market is highly competitive and dynamic and dominated by the sale of statin treatments, including the cheaper generic
versions of statins. We estimate that the total statin monotherapy and fixed combination market, including generic drugs, accounted for 69% of U.S. sales in
the LDL-C lowering market in 2012. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain a share of the market, initially, for patients who are statin
intolerant. Potential competitors in North America, Europe and elsewhere include major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies,
biotechnology firms, universities and other research institutions and government agencies. Other pharmaceutical companies may develop LDL-C lowering
therapies for statin intolerant patients that compete with ETC-1002, if approved, that do not infringe the claims of our patents, pending patent applications or
other proprietary rights, which could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) lowering therapies currently on the market that would compete with ETC-1002 include the following:
· Statins, such as Crestor® (rosuvastatin) and Lipitor® (atorvastatin), including their cheaper generic versions;
· Cholesterol absorption inhibitors, such as Zetia® (ezetimibe), a monotherapy marketed by Merck & Co., and Welchol® (colesevelam), a bile acid
sequestrant marketed by Daiichi Sankyo Inc.;
· MTP inhibitors, such as JUXTAPID® (lomitapide), marketed by Aegerion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;
· Apo B Anti-Sense therapy, such as KYNAMRO® (mipomersen), marketed by Genzyme Corp.;
· Combination therapies, such as Vytorin® (ezetimibe and simvastatin), marketed by Merck & Co., Inc.; and
· Other lipid-lowering monotherapies, such as Tricor® (fenofibrate) and Niaspan® (niacin extended release), and combination therapies, such as
Advicor® (niacin extended release and lovastatin) and Simcor® (niacin and simvastatin), both of which are marketed by AbbVie, Inc.
Several other pharmaceutical companies have other LDL-C lowering therapies in development that may be approved for marketing in the United States
or outside of the United States. Based on publicly available information, we believe the current therapies in development that would compete with ETC-1002
include:
· PCSK9 inhibitors, such as SAR236553/REGN727, a therapy in Phase 3 clinical testing being developed by Sanofi and Regeneron
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and AMG-145, a separate therapy in Phase 3 development being developed by Amgen Inc.; and
· CETP inhibitors, such as MK-0859, a therapy in Phase 3 clinical testing being developed by Merck, and LY2484595, a therapy in Phase 3 clinical
testing being developed by Eli Lilly & Company.
Many of our potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical and human resources than we do and significantly greater experience
discovering and developing drug candidates, obtaining FDA and other marketing approvals of products and commercializing those products. Accordingly, our
competitors may be more successful than we may be in obtaining FDA approval for drugs and achieving widespread market acceptance. Our competitors’
drugs may be more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than ETC-1002, if approved, and may render ETC-1002 obsolete or non-competitive
before we can recover the expenses of developing and commercializing it. If approved, ETC-1002 may also compete with unapproved and off-label LDL-C
lowering treatments, and following the expiration of additional patents covering the LDL-C lowering market, we may also face additional competition from
the entry of new generic drugs. We anticipate that we will encounter intense and increasing competition as new drugs enter the market and advanced
technologies become available.
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We face potential product liability exposure, and, if claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability.
The use of ETC-1002 in clinical studies and the sale of ETC-1002, if approved, exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability
claims might be brought against us by patients, healthcare providers or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with ETC-1002. For example, we may
be sued if any product we develop allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale.
Any such product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product,
including as a result of interactions with alcohol or other drugs, negligence, strict liability, and a breach of warranties. Claims could also be asserted under
state consumer protection acts. If we become subject to product liability claims and cannot successfully defend ourselves against them, we could incur
substantial liabilities. In addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in, among other things:
· withdrawal of patients from our clinical studies;
· substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants;
· decreased demand for ETC-1002 or any future product candidates following marketing approval, if obtained;
· damage to our reputation and exposure to adverse publicity;
· increased FDA warnings on product labels;
· litigation costs;

· distraction of management’s attention from our primary business;
· loss of revenue; and
· the inability to successfully commercialize ETC-1002 or any future product candidates, if approved.
We maintain product liability insurance coverage for our clinical studies with a $5 million annual aggregate coverage limit. Nevertheless, our insurance
coverage may be insufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance
coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses, including if insurance coverage becomes increasingly expensive. If and
when we obtain marketing approval for ETC-1002, we intend to expand our insurance coverage to include the sale of commercial products; however, we may
not be able to obtain this product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms. Large judgments have been awarded in class action lawsuits based on
drugs that had unanticipated side effects. The cost of any product liability litigation or other proceedings, even if resolved in our favor, could be substantial,
particularly in light of the size of our business and financial resources. A product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could cause our stock
price to decline and, if we are unsuccessful in defending such a claim or claims and the resulting judgments exceed our insurance coverage, our financial
condition, business and prospects could be materially adversely affected.
We are subject to healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm
and diminished profits and future earnings.
Healthcare providers, physicians and others will play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of ETC-1002, if approved. Our future
arrangements with third-party payors will expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the
business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute ETC-1002, if we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions
under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:
· The federal healthcare anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or
providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order
or recommendation of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid.
· The federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including those from civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals
or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims
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for payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease, or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal
government.
· The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act, imposes criminal and civil liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and also imposes
obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable
health information.
· The federal false statements statute prohibits knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any
materially false statement in connection with the delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services.
· The federal transparency requirements under the PPACA require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics, and medical supplies to report to the
Department of Health and Human Services information related to physician payments and other transfers of value and physician ownership and
investment interests.
· Analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and transparency laws, may apply to sales or marketing
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers,
and some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to
payments to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and drug pricing.
Ensuring that our future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could be costly. It is possible
that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving
applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations, including anticipated activities to be conducted by our sales team, were
found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and
administrative penalties, damages, fines and exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, any of which could
substantially disrupt our operations. If any of the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in
compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare
programs.
Our internal computer systems, or those of our third-party clinical research organizations or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security
breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our ETC-1002 development programs.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our third-party clinical research organizations and other
contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war, and telecommunication
and electrical failures. While we have not experienced any such system failure, accident, or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause
interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our programs. For example, the loss of clinical study data for ETC-1002 could result
in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security
breach results in a loss of or damage to our data or applications or other data or applications relating to our technology or product candidates, or inappropriate
disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and the further development of ETC-1002 could be delayed.

Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
If we are unable to adequately protect our proprietary technology or maintain issued patents which are sufficient to protect ETC-1002, others could
compete against us more directly, which would have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Our commercial success will depend in part on our success obtaining and maintaining issued patents and other intellectual property rights in the United
States and elsewhere and protecting our proprietary technology. If we do not adequately protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology,
competitors may be able to use our technologies and erode or negate any competitive advantage we may have, which could harm our business and ability to
achieve profitability.
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As of June 30, 2013, Esperion’s patent estate, including patents we own or license from third parties, on a worldwide basis, included approximately 15
issued United States patents and 6 pending United States patent applications and 6 issued patents and 25 pending patent applications in other foreign
jurisdictions. Of our worldwide patents and pending applications, only a subset relates to our small molecule program which includes our lead product
candidate, ETC-1002. ETC-1002 is claimed in U.S. Patent No. 7,335,799 that is scheduled to expire in December 2025, which includes 711 days of patent
term adjustment, and may be eligible for a patent term extension period of up to 5 years. Two pending United States patent applications claim methods of
treatment using ETC-1002. There are currently three issued patents and four pending applications in countries outside the United States that relate to ETC1002.
A second subset of this portfolio relates to our early-stage product candidate ESP41091. ESP41091 is claimed in U.S. Patent Nos. 7,119,221 and
7,405,226. Various methods of treatment using ESP41091 are claimed in U.S. Patent Nos. 8,153,690 and 8,309,604 and in at least one other pending
application in the United States. There are currently two issued patents and four pending applications in countries outside the United States that relate to
ESP41091.
Our 4WF patent portfolio currently consists of 19 issued patents and pending patent applications in the United States and other foreign jurisdictions
regarding apolipoprotein mixtures, dimeric oxidation-resistant apolipoprotein variants and oxidant resistant apolipoprotein A1 variants and mimetic peptides
thereof.
We cannot assure you that any of our patents have, or that any of our pending patent applications will mature into issued patents that will include,
claims with a scope sufficient to protect ETC-1002 or our other product candidates. Others have developed technologies that may be related or competitive to
our approach, and may have filed or may file patent applications and may have received or may receive patents that may overlap or conflict with our patent
applications, either by claiming the same methods or formulations or by claiming subject matter that could dominate our patent position. The patent positions
of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, including our patent position, involve complex legal and factual questions, and, therefore, the issuance,
scope, validity and enforceability of any patent claims that we may obtain cannot be predicted with certainty. Patents, if issued, may be challenged, deemed
unenforceable, invalidated, or circumvented. U.S. patents and patent applications may also be subject to interference proceedings, ex parte reexamination,
or inter partes review proceedings, supplemental examination and challenges in district court. Patents may be subjected to opposition, post-grant review, or
comparable proceedings lodged in various national and regional patent offices. These proceedings could result in either loss of the patent or denial of the
patent application or loss or reduction in the scope of one or more of the claims of the patent or patent application. In addition, such interference, reexamination, opposition, post-grant review, inter partes review, supplemental examination or revocation proceedings may be costly. Thus, any patents that we
may own or exclusively license may not provide any protection against competitors. Furthermore, an adverse decision in an interference proceeding can result
in a third-party receiving the patent right sought by us, which in turn could affect our ability to develop, market or otherwise commercialize ETC-1002.
Furthermore, the issuance of a patent, while presumed valid and enforceable, is not conclusive as to its validity or its enforceability and it may not
provide us with adequate proprietary protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar products. Competitors may also be able to design
around our patents. Other parties may develop and obtain patent protection for more effective technologies, designs or methods. We may not be able to
prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical knowledge or trade secrets by consultants, vendors, former employees and current employees. The
laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and we may encounter significant
problems in protecting our proprietary rights in these countries. If these developments were to occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our sales.
Our ability to enforce our patent rights depends on our ability to detect infringement. It is difficult to detect infringers who do not advertise the
components that are used in their products. Moreover, it may be difficult or impossible to obtain evidence of infringement in a competitor’s or potential
competitor’s product. Any litigation to enforce or defend our patent rights, if any, even if we were to prevail, could be costly and time-consuming and would
divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages
or other remedies awarded if we were to prevail may not be commercially meaningful.
In addition, proceedings to enforce or defend our patents could put our patents at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpreted narrowly.
Such proceedings could also provoke third parties to assert claims against us, including that some or all of the claims in one or more of our patents are invalid
or otherwise unenforceable. If, in any proceeding, a court invalidated or found unenforceable our patents covering ETC-1002, our financial position and
results of operations would be materially and adversely impacted. In addition, if a court found that valid, enforceable patents held by third parties covered
ETC-1002, our financial position and results of operations would also be materially and adversely impacted.
The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:
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· any of our patents, or any of our pending patent applications, if issued, will include claims having a scope sufficient to protect ETC-1002;
· any of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents;

· we will be able to successfully commercialize ETC-1002, if approved, before our relevant patents expire;
· we were the first to make the inventions covered by each of our patents and pending patent applications;
· we were the first to file patent applications for these inventions;
· others will not develop similar or alternative technologies that do not infringe our patents;
· any of our patents will be valid and enforceable;
· any patents issued to us will provide a basis for an exclusive market for our commercially viable products, will provide us with any competitive
advantages or will not be challenged by third parties;
· we will develop additional proprietary technologies or product candidates that are separately patentable; or
· that our commercial activities or products will not infringe upon the patents of others.
We rely upon unpatented trade secrets, unpatented know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive
position, which we seek to protect, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our employees and our collaborators and consultants. We also have agreements
with our employees and selected consultants that obligate them to assign their inventions to us. It is possible that technology relevant to our business will be
independently developed by a person that is not a party to such an agreement. Furthermore, if the employees and consultants who are parties to these
agreements breach or violate the terms of these agreements, we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and we could lose our trade
secrets through such breaches or violations. Further, our trade secrets could otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors.
If we are not able to adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information, the value of our technology and products could be
significantly diminished.
We rely on trade secrets to protect our proprietary technologies, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable.
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We rely in part on confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators,
sponsored researchers, contract manufacturers, vendors and other advisors to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary information. These agreements
may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. In addition, we cannot guarantee that we have executed these agreements with each party that may have or have had access to our
trade secrets.
Moreover, because we acquired certain rights to our lead product candidate from Pfizer, we must rely on Pfizer’s practices, and those of its
predecessors, with regard to parties that may have had access to our trade secrets related thereto before our incorporation. Any party with whom we or they
have executed such an agreement may breach that agreement and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to
obtain adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, expensive and
time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade
secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those
to whom they disclose such trade secrets, from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or
independently developed by a competitor or other third-party, our competitive position would be harmed.
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We may infringe the intellectual property rights of others, which may prevent or delay our product development efforts and stop us from commercializing
or increase the costs of commercializing ETC-1002, if approved.
Our success will depend in part on our ability to operate without infringing the intellectual property and proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot
assure you that our business, products and methods do not or will not infringe the patents or other intellectual property rights of third parties.
The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by extensive litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. Other parties may allege
that ETC-1002 or the use of our technologies infringes patent claims or other intellectual property rights held by them or that we are employing their
proprietary technology without authorization. Patent and other types of intellectual property litigation can involve complex factual and legal questions, and
their outcome is uncertain. Any claim relating to intellectual property infringement that is successfully asserted against us may require us to pay substantial
damages, including treble damages and attorney’s fees if we are found to be willfully infringing another party’s patents, for past use of the asserted
intellectual property and royalties and other consideration going forward if we are forced to take a license. In addition, if any such claim were successfully
asserted against us and we could not obtain such a license, we may be forced to stop or delay developing, manufacturing, selling or otherwise
commercializing ETC-1002.
Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial costs and divert management time and attention in pursuing these proceedings,
which could have a material adverse effect on us. If we are unable to avoid infringing the patent rights of others, we may be required to seek a license, defend
an infringement action or challenge the validity of the patents in court, or redesign our products. Patent litigation is costly and time consuming. We may not
have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion. In addition, intellectual property litigation or claims could force us to do one or
more of the following:
· cease developing, selling or otherwise commercializing ETC-1002;
· pay substantial damages for past use of the asserted intellectual property;
· obtain a license from the holder of the asserted intellectual property, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all; and

· redesign, or rename in the case of trademark claims, ETC-1002 to avoid infringing the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may not
be possible and, even if possible, could be costly and time-consuming.
Any of these risks coming to fruition could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our products.
The United States has recently enacted and is currently implementing the America Invents Act of 2011, wide-ranging patent reform legislation. The
United States Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain
circumstances or weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents
in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by the U.S.
Congress, the federal courts, and the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or the U.S. PTO, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in
unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents that we might obtain in the future.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these
requirements.
The U.S. PTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other
provisions during the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application,
resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than
would otherwise have been the case.
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We could become dependent on licensed intellectual property. If we were to lose our rights to licensed intellectual property, we may not be able to continue
developing or commercializing ETC-1002 or our other product candidates, if approved.
In the future, we may enter into license(s) to third-party intellectual property that are necessary or useful to our business. Such license agreement(s) will
likely impose various obligations upon us, and our licensor(s) have or may have the right to terminate the license thereunder in the event of a material breach
or, in some cases, at will. Future licensor(s) may allege that we have breached our license agreement with them or decide to terminate our license at will, and
accordingly seek to terminate our license. If successful, this could result in our loss of the right to use the licensed intellectual property, which could
materially adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize a product candidate or product, if approved, as well as harm our competitive business
position and our business prospects.
We do not seek to protect our intellectual property rights in all jurisdictions throughout the world and we may not be able to adequately enforce our
intellectual property rights even in the jurisdictions where we seek protection.
Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries and jurisdictions throughout the world would be prohibitively
expensive, and our intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States could be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition,
the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently,
we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products
made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not
obtained patent protection to develop their own products and further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection,
but enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our products and our patents or other intellectual property
rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal
systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection,
particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing
products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and
divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, could put our
patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the
damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around
the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former
employers.
Our employees have been previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential
competitors. Although we are not aware of any claims currently pending against us, we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers of our employees. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a
distraction to management. If we fail in defending such claims, in addition to paying money claims, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or
personnel. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize ETC-1002, which would materially adversely
affect our commercial development efforts.
Risks Related to our Dependence on Third Parties
We will be unable to directly control all aspects of our clinical studies due to our reliance on CROs and other third parties that assist us in conducting
clinical studies.

We will rely on CROs to conduct our Phase 2b and Phase 3 clinical studies for ETC-1002. As a result, we will have less direct control over the conduct,
timing and completion of these clinical studies and the management of data developed through the clinical studies than would be the case if we were relying
entirely upon our own staff. Communicating with outside parties can also be challenging, potentially leading to mistakes as well as difficulties in coordinating
activities. Outside parties may:
· have staffing difficulties;
· fail to comply with contractual obligations;
· experience regulatory compliance issues;
· undergo changes in priorities or become financially distressed; or
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· form relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors.
These factors may materially adversely affect the willingness or ability of third parties to conduct our clinical studies and may subject us to unexpected
cost increases that are beyond our control.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as Good Clinical Practices, for conducting, recording, and reporting the
results of clinical studies to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of clinical study
participants are protected. Our reliance on third parties that we do not control does not relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements.
Problems with the timeliness or quality of the work of any CRO may lead us to seek to terminate our relationship with any such CRO and use an
alternative service provider. Making this change may be costly and may delay our clinical studies, and contractual restrictions may make such a change
difficult or impossible to effect. If we must replace any CRO that is conducting our clinical studies, our clinical studies may have to be suspended until we
find another CRO that offers comparable services. The time that it takes us to find alternative organizations may cause a delay in the commercialization of
ETC-1002 or may cause us to incur significant expenses to replicate data that may be lost. Although we do not believe that any CRO on which we may rely
will offer services that are not available elsewhere, it may be difficult to find a replacement organization that can conduct our clinical studies in an acceptable
manner and at an acceptable cost. Any delay in or inability to complete our clinical studies could significantly compromise our ability to secure regulatory
approval of ETC-1002 and preclude our ability to commercialize ETC-1002, thereby limiting or preventing our ability to generate revenue from its sales.
We rely completely on third-party suppliers to manufacture our clinical drug supplies for ETC-1002, and we intend to rely on third parties to produce
commercial supplies of ETC-1002 and pre-clinical, clinical and commercial supplies of any future product candidate.
We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability to internally manufacture our clinical drug supply of ETC-1002, or
any future product candidates, for use in the conduct of our pre-clinical studies and clinical studies, and we lack the internal resources and the capability to
manufacture any product candidates on a clinical or commercial scale. The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture the active
pharmaceutical ingredient and final drug for ETC-1002, or any future product candidates, must be approved by the FDA and other comparable foreign
regulatory agencies pursuant to inspections that would be conducted after we submit our NDA or relevant foreign regulatory submission to the applicable
regulatory agency.
We do not control the manufacturing process of, and are completely dependent on, our contract manufacturers to comply with current Good
Manufacturing Practices for manufacture of both active drug substances and finished drug products. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully
manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory agencies, they will
not be able to secure and/or maintain regulatory approval for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no direct control over our contract
manufacturers’ ability to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. Furthermore, all of our contract manufacturers are
engaged with other companies to supply and/or manufacture materials or products for such companies, which exposes our manufacturers to regulatory risks
for the production of such materials and products. As a result, failure to satisfy the regulatory requirements for the production of those materials and products
may affect the regulatory clearance of our contract manufacturers’ facilities generally. If the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory agency does not approve
these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws its approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing
facilities, which would adversely impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates.
If we do not establish successful collaborations, we may have to alter our development and commercialization plans for ETC-1002.
Our drug development programs and commercialization plans for ETC-1002 will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. We may develop
and initially commercialize ETC-1002 in the United States without a partner. However, in order to pursue the broader residual risk market in the United
States, we may also enter into a partnership or co-promotion arrangement with an established pharmaceutical company that has a larger sales force and we
may enter into collaborative arrangements to develop and commercialize ETC-1002 outside of the United States. We will face significant competition in
seeking appropriate collaborators and these collaboration agreements are complex and time-consuming to negotiate. We may not be able to negotiate
collaborations on acceptable terms, or at all. If that were to occur, we may have to curtail the development or delay commercialization of ETC-1002 in certain
geographies, reduce the scope of our sales or marketing activities, reduce the scope of our commercialization plans, or increase our expenditures and
undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or
commercialization activities outside of the United States on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, or at all.
40

Table of Contents

If a collaborative partner terminates or fails to perform its obligations under an agreement with us, the commercialization of ETC-1002 could be delayed
or terminated.
We are not currently party to any collaborative arrangements for the commercialization of ETC-1002 or similar arrangements, although we may pursue
such arrangements before any commercialization of ETC-1002 outside of the United States or to further commercialize ETC-1002 in the broader residual risk
market in the United States, if approved. If we are successful in entering into collaborative arrangements for the commercialization of ETC-1002 or similar
arrangements and any of our collaborative partners does not devote sufficient time and resources to a collaboration arrangement with us, we may not realize
the potential commercial benefits of the arrangement, and our results of operations may be materially adversely affected. In addition, if any such future
collaboration partner were to breach or terminate its arrangements with us, the commercialization of ETC-1002 could be delayed, curtailed or terminated
because we may not have sufficient financial resources or capabilities to continue commercialization of ETC-1002 on our own in such locations.
Much of the potential revenue from future collaborations may consist of contingent payments, such as payments for achieving regulatory milestones or
royalties payable on sales of drugs. The milestone and royalty revenue that we may receive under these collaborations will depend upon our collaborators’
ability to successfully develop, introduce, market and sell new products. In addition, collaborators may decide to enter into arrangements with third parties to
commercialize products developed under collaborations using our technologies, which could reduce the milestone and royalty revenue that we may receive, if
any. Future collaboration partners may fail to develop or effectively commercialize products using our products or technologies because they:
· decide not to devote the necessary resources due to internal constraints, such as limited personnel with the requisite expertise, limited cash
resources or specialized equipment limitations, or the belief that other drug development programs may have a higher likelihood of obtaining
marketing approval or may potentially generate a greater return on investment;
· decide to pursue other technologies or develop other product candidates, either on their own or in collaboration with others, including our
competitors, to treat the same diseases targeted by our own collaborative programs;
· do not have sufficient resources necessary to carry the product candidate through clinical development, marketing approval and
commercialization; or
· cannot obtain the necessary marketing approvals.
Competition may negatively impact a partner’s focus on and commitment to ETC-1002 and, as a result, could delay or otherwise negatively affect the
commercialization of ETC-1002 outside of the United States or in the broader residual risk market in the United States. If future collaboration partners fail to
develop or effectively commercialize ETC-1002 for any of these reasons, our sales of ETC-1002, if approved, may be limited, which would have a material
adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
Risks Related to General Business, Employee Matters and Managing Growth
We will need to develop and expand our company, and we may encounter difficulties in managing this development and expansion, which could disrupt
our operations.
In connection with being a newly public company, we expect to increase our number of employees and the scope of our operations. To manage our
anticipated development and expansion, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand our facilities
and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Also, our management may need to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away
from its day-to-day activities and devote a substantial amount of time to managing these development activities. Due to our limited resources, we may not be
able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified personnel. This may result in weaknesses in our
infrastructure; give rise to operational mistakes, loss of business opportunities, loss of employees and reduced productivity among remaining employees. The
physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert financial resources from other projects, such as the development of ETC1002. If our management is unable to effectively manage our expected development and expansion, our expenses may increase more than expected, our
ability to generate or increase our revenue could be reduced and we may not be able to implement our business strategy. Our future financial performance and
our ability to commercialize ETC-1002, if approved, and compete effectively will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage the future development
and expansion of our company.
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Our future success depends on our ability to retain both our founder, Executive Chairman and Chief Scientific Officer and our President and Chief
Executive Officer, and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.
We are highly dependent on Dr. Roger S. Newton, our founder, Executive Chairman and Chief Scientific Officer, and Tim M. Mayleben, our President
and Chief Executive Officer. We have entered into employment agreements with Dr. Newton and Mr. Mayleben, but any employee may terminate his or her
employment with us. Although we do not have any reason to believe that we will lose the services of either Dr. Newton or Mr. Mayleben in the foreseeable
future, the loss of the services of either individual might impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization objectives. We rely on
consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating our development and commercialization strategy. Our
consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities
that may limit their availability to us. Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific personnel and sales and marketing personnel will also be critical to our
success. We may not be able to attract and retain these personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience competition for the hiring of scientific personnel from universities and research
institutions. Failure to succeed in clinical studies may make it more challenging to recruit and retain qualified scientific personnel.
Our company lacks experience commercializing products, which may have a material adverse effect on our business.
We will need to transition from a company with a development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We may be
unsuccessful in making such a transition. Our company has never filed an NDA and has not yet demonstrated an ability to obtain marketing approval for or
commercialize a product candidate. Therefore, our clinical development and regulatory approval process may involve more inherent risk, take longer, and

cost more than it would if we were a company with a more significant operating history and had experience obtaining marketing approval for and
commercializing a product candidate.
Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including violating applicable regulatory standards and requirements or engaging
in insider trading, which could significantly harm our business.
We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees could include intentional failures to comply with the
regulations of the FDA and applicable non-U.S. regulators, provide accurate information to the FDA and applicable non-U.S. regulators, comply with
healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations in the United States and abroad, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized
activities to us. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to
prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing,
discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee misconduct could also
involve the improper use of, including trading on, information obtained in the course of clinical studies, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious
harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of conduct, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we
take to detect and prevent this activity may be ineffective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental
investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and
we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of
significant fines or other sanctions.
In order to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we may need to hire qualified accounting and financial personnel with appropriate public
company experience.
As a newly public company, we will need to establish and maintain effective disclosure and financial controls and make changes in our corporate
governance practices. We may need to hire additional accounting and financial personnel with appropriate public company experience and technical
accounting knowledge, and it may be difficult to recruit and maintain such personnel. Even if we are able to hire appropriate personnel, our existing operating
expenses and operations will be impacted by the direct costs of their employment and the indirect consequences related to the diversion of management
resources from product development efforts.
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Risks Related to our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
We have not generated any revenue from ETC-1002 and may never be profitable.
Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, we have not generated any revenue from our lead product
candidate, ETC-1002, and we do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue. We do not expect to generate significant revenue unless and until we
obtain marketing approval of, and begin to sell, ETC-1002. Our ability to generate revenue depends on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our
ability to:
· initiate and successfully complete our Phase 2b clinical studies that meet their clinical endpoints;
· initiate and successfully complete our Phase 3 clinical program;
· initiate and successfully complete all safety studies required to obtain U.S. and foreign marketing approval for ETC-1002 as a treatment for
patients with hypercholesterolemia;
· commercialize ETC-1002, if approved, by developing a sales force or entering into collaborations with third parties; and
· achieve market acceptance of ETC-1002 in the medical community and with third-party payors.
Absent our entering into a collaboration or partnership agreement, we expect to incur significant sales and marketing costs as we prepare to
commercialize ETC-1002. Even if we initiate and successfully complete our Phase 3 clinical program of ETC-1002, which includes two pivotal Phase 3
clinical studies and one long-term safety study, which each meet their clinical endpoints and ETC-1002 is approved for commercial sale, and despite
expending these costs, ETC-1002 may not be a commercially successful drug. We may not achieve profitability soon after generating product sales, if ever. If
we are unable to generate product revenue, we will not become profitable and may be unable to continue operations without continued funding.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.
We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations and strategic and licensing
arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock,
your ownership interest in our company will be diluted. In addition, the terms of any such securities may include liquidation or other preferences that
materially adversely affect your rights as a stockholder. Debt financing, if available, would increase our fixed payment obligations and may involve
agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or
declaring dividends. If we raise additional funds through collaboration, strategic partnerships and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to
relinquish valuable rights to ETC-1002, our intellectual property, future revenue streams or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
Our recurring operating losses have raised substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern.
We have a limited operating history and have not commercialized any products or generated any revenue since our inception. We have incurred
operating losses in each year since our inception. Our recurring operating losses raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. As a
result, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, our independent registered public accounting firm has issued its report on our financial statements and
has expressed substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. We have no current source of revenue to sustain our present activities, and
we do not expect to generate revenue until and unless the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities approve ETC-1002 and we successfully

commercialize ETC-1002. Accordingly, our ability to continue as a going concern will require us to obtain additional financing to fund our operations.
Uncertainty surrounding our ability to continue as a going concern may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations
and could result in the loss of confidence by investors, suppliers and employees.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards may be subject to limitation.
Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, changes in our ownership may limit the amount of our net
operating loss carryforwards that could be utilized annually to offset our future taxable income, if any. This limitation would generally apply in the event of a
cumulative change in ownership of our company of more than 50% within a three-year period. Any such limitation may significantly reduce our ability to
utilize our net operating loss carryforwards before they expire. The closing of our initial public offering, together with private placements and other
transactions that have occurred since our inception, may trigger such an ownership change pursuant to Section 382. Any such limitation, whether as the result
of our initial public offering, prior private placements, sales of our common stock by our existing stockholders or additional sales of our common stock by us
after our initial public offering, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations in future years. We have not completed a study to assess
whether an ownership change for purposes of Section 382 has occurred, or whether there have been multiple ownership changes since our inception, due to
the significant costs and complexities associated with such study.
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Risks Related to the Securities Markets and Investment in our Common Stock
Market volatility may affect our stock price and the value of your investment.
The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control, including,
among others:
· plans for, progress of or results from clinical efficacy or safety studies of ETC-1002;
· the results from our Phase 2a clinical study (ETC-1002-007), for which we expect to report top-line data in early September 2013;
· the failure of the FDA to approve ETC-1002;
· announcements of new products, technologies, commercial relationships, acquisitions or other events by us or our competitors;
· the success or failure of other LDL-C lowering therapies;
· regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;
· failure of ETC-1002, if approved, to achieve commercial success;
· fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies;
· general market conditions and overall fluctuations in U.S. equity markets;
· variations in our quarterly operating results;
· changes in our financial guidance or securities analysts’ estimates of our financial performance;
· changes in accounting principles;
· our ability to raise additional capital and the terms on which we can raise it;
· sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders;
· additions or departures of key personnel;
· discussion of us or our stock price by the press and by online investor communities; and
· other risks and uncertainties described in these risk factors.
As a result, you may not be able to sell your shares of common stock at or above the price at which you purchase them.
We may be at an increased risk of securities class action litigation.
Historically, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk
is especially relevant for us because biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we
were to be sued, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business.
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If securities or industry analysts cease publishing research or reports or publish misleading, inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business or
our market, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. We only recently started receiving research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If one or more of the
industry analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, or provides more favorable relative
recommendations about our competitors, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports
on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
We are an “emerging growth company,” and as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy
statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden
parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock
price may be more volatile. We may take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” We will remain an
“emerging growth company” until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public
offering, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.0 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means
the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued
more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, even one that may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a change in our management. These provisions
include a classified board of directors, a prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders and the ability of our board of directors to issue
preferred stock without stockholder approval. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine
with us. Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain greater value for stockholders by requiring potential acquirors
to negotiate with our board of directors, they would apply even if an offer rejected by our board were considered beneficial by some stockholders. In addition,
these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.
We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock and do not currently intend to do so in the foreseeable future. We currently
anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the success of an investment in shares of our common stock will depend upon any future appreciation in their
value. There is no guarantee that shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which you purchased them.
Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales might occur could significantly
reduce the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise adequate capital through the sale of additional equity securities.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
The following list sets forth information as to all securities we have sold during the quarter ended June 30, 2013, which were not registered under the
Securities Act.
1.

On April 19, 2013, in connection with a preferred stock financing, we issued 17,000,000 shares of our Series A preferred stock to ten accredited
investors at a per share purchase price of $1.00 for aggregate gross consideration of $17.0 million. Each share of Series A preferred stock
converted into 0.143 shares of our common stock in connection with the closing of our initial public offering on July 1, 2013.

2.

On April 28, 2008, we issued a convertible promissory note to an accredited investor in the original principal amount of $5.0 million. The
convertible promissory note accrued interest at a rate of 8.931% per year and had a maturity date of April 28, 2018. Accrued interest under the
note was capitalized on June 30th and December 31st of each year. On May 29, 2013, we entered into a stock purchase agreement pursuant to
which we issued 6,750,000 shares of our Series A-1 preferred stock to the noteholder at a price of $1.1560 per share, which purchase price was
paid through the cancellation of all outstanding indebtedness, including accrued interest, under the convertible promissory note. Each share of
Series A-1 preferred stock converted into 0.124 shares of our common stock in connection with the closing of our initial public offering on
July 1, 2013.

3.

We granted stock options to purchase an aggregate of 145,285 shares of our common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $6.34 per
share to certain employees, consultants and directors.

4.

We issued and sold an aggregate of 49,936 shares of common stock to certain employees, directors and consultants for cash consideration in the
aggregate amount of $123,245 upon the exercise of stock options.

We deemed the offers, sales and issuances of the securities described in paragraphs (1) and (2) above to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act, in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act, including Regulation D and Rule 506 promulgated thereunder, regarding transactions by an
issuer not involving a public offering. All purchasers of securities in transactions exempt from registration pursuant to Regulation D represented to us that
they were accredited investors and were acquiring the shares for investment purposes only and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with, any
distribution thereof and that they could bear the risks of the investment and could hold the securities for an indefinite period of time. The purchasers received
written disclosures that the securities had not been registered under the Securities Act and that any resale must be made pursuant to a registration statement or
an available exemption from such registration.
We deemed the grants and exercises of stock options described in paragraphs (3) and (4) as exempt pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act or
to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Rule 701 of the Securities Act as offers and sales of securities under compensatory
benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation in compliance with Rule 701. Each of the recipients of securities in any transaction exempt from
registration either received or had adequate access, through employment, business or other relationships, to information about us.
All certificates representing the securities issued in the transactions described above in this Item 2 included appropriate legends setting forth that the
securities had not been offered or sold pursuant to a registration statement and describing the applicable restrictions on transfer of the securities. There were
no underwriters employed in connection with any of the transactions set forth above in this Item 2.
Use of Proceeds from Initial Public Offering of Common Stock
On July 1, 2013, we closed the sale of 5,000,000 shares of common stock to the public at an initial public offering price of $14.00 per share. On
July 8, 2013, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full, pursuant to which we sold an additional 750,000 shares of common stock at a
price of $14.00 per share on July 11, 2013. The offer and sale of the shares in the IPO was registered under the Securities Act pursuant to registration
statements on Form S-1 (File No. 333-188595), which was filed with the SEC on May 14, 2013 and amended subsequently and declared effective on June 25,
2013, and Form S-1MEF (File No. 333-189590), which was filed with the SEC on June 25, 2013 and declared effective on June 25, 2013. Following the sale
of the shares in connection with the closing of our IPO, the offering terminated. The offering did not terminate before all the securities registered in the
registration statements were sold. The underwriters of the offering were Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. acted as joint
book-running managers for the offering and as representatives of the underwriters. JMP Securities LLC and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated acting
as co-managers for the offering.
We raised approximately $72.4 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $5.6 million and
other offering expenses of approximately $2.4 million. No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to any of our directors or officers (or their
associates) or persons owning ten percent or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates.
To date, we have not yet used the net proceeds from our IPO. We invested the funds received in cash equivalents and other short-term investments in
accordance with our investment policy. None of such payments were direct or indirect payments to any of our directors or officers (or their associates), to
persons owning ten percent or more of our common stock or to any other affiliates. As described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC on June 26, 2013
pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act, we expect to use the net proceeds from our IPO to fund the clinical development of ETC-1002 through the
completion of our currently anticipated Phase 2b clinical studies and end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA, as well as for working capital and general
corporate purposes, including funding the costs of operating as a public company. We currently expect to have our end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in
the first quarter of 2015.
Item 5. Other Information
On August 8, 2013, the Company entered into a transitional services and letter agreement with Troy Ignelzi, the Company’s Vice President—
Business Development. The transition agreement provides that, subject to certain conditions, including without limitation executing a general release of
claims in favor of the Company, (i) Mr. Ignelzi’s employment with the Company will end on October 1, 2013; (ii) Mr. Ignelzi will continue to receive his base
salary through January 31, 2014; (iii) Mr. Ignelzi’s unvested stock options will continue to vest through January 31, 2014; (iv) effective as of January 31,
2014, Mr. Ignelzi will receive six months of acceleration on his then unvested stock options; and (v) Mr. Ignelzi will have until June 30, 2014 to exercise any
of his stock options that are vested and exercisable and not otherwise expired or forfeited.
The above description of the transition agreement is a summary and is qualified in its entirety by the transition agreement itself, which is filed as
Exhibit 10.1 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 6. Exhibits
The exhibits filed or furnished as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which Exhibit Index is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
ESPERION THERAPEUTICS, INC.
August 12, 2013

By:

47

Table of Contents

/s/ Tim M. Mayleben
Tim M. Mayleben
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.

Form or
Schedule

Description

Incorporated by Reference to:
Filing
Exhibit
Date with
No.
SEC

SEC File
Number

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

S-1/A

3.1

6/12/2013

333-188595

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Registrant.

S-1/A

3.2

6/12/2013

333-188595

4.1

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of the Registrant.

S-1/A

4.1

6/12/2013

333-188595

10.1*

Transitional Services and Letter Agreement by and between Esperion
Therapeutics, Inc. and Troy A. Ignelzi, effective August 8, 2013.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer pursuant to Exchange Act rules 13a-14 or 15d-14.

32.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer pursuant to Exchange Act rules 13a-14(b) or 15d-14(b) and 18
U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS**

XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Document.

101.DEF**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.

101.PRE**

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Link Document.

*

Filed herewith.

** Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language). Pursuant to Rule 406T of
Regulation S-T, the interactive data file is deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
is otherwise not subject to liability under these sections.
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Exhibit 10.1
August 8, 2013
Troy Ignelzi
Re: Transitional Services and Letter Agreement
Dear Troy:
This Transitional Services and Letter Agreement (the “Agreement”) confirms that your employment at Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. and their affiliates (any
and all of which are referred to individually and collectively as “Esperion” or the “Company”) will end on October 1, 2013, unless earlier terminated
consistent with this Agreement. The actual last day of your employment shall be referred to in this document as the “Separation Date.”
We sincerely appreciate your service and contribution to the Company and want to make this transition as smooth as possible. Consistent with that, the
Company is proposing an amicable arrangement under which you would be eligible to continue working at Esperion while you seek alternative employment.
In addition, and provided you satisfy each of the severance conditions set forth in this Agreement, you will be entitled to receive post-employment pay and
benefits. In exchange, you will be required to provide competent services to Esperion until the Separation Date, release the Company and related persons and
entities from any claims, and comply with other obligations set forth below.
In the interest of clarity, the following terms and conditions shall apply in connection with the ending of your employment and regardless of whether you elect
to accept or reject this Agreement:
·

the Company will pay you for your salary plus all accrued but unused vacation time through the Separation Date;

·

you will be able to continue group medical and dental insurance coverage after the termination of your employment under the law known as
“COBRA;”

·

your eligibility to participate in any other employee benefit plans and programs of the Company will cease on or after the Separation Date in
accordance with applicable benefit plan or program terms and practices;

·

your obligations pursuant to the Employee Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Confidentiality and Assignment Agreement dated
January 12, 2010 (the “Employee Agreement”) and any other policies and agreements with continuing obligations (collectively the
“Continuing Obligations”) will survive in accordance with their terms; and

·

subject to the provisions below, your options to purchase common shares in Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. are governed by the terms and
conditions of the

incentive stock option plan and associated stock option agreement (collectively the “Equity Documents”).
In addition to the above described non-contingent terms, you will be entitled to the Severance Benefits described in Section 3, provided you enter into this
Agreement and satisfy each of the other Severance Conditions described in Section 2. If, on the other hand, you reject this Agreement, your employment at
Esperion will end but you will not be entitled to the Severance Benefits.
With those understandings, the Agreement between you and the Company is as follows:
1.

Transition Period

The Company will continue to employ you on an at-will basis through the Separation Date (the “Transition Period”). Unless otherwise directed by the
Company, during the Transition Period you shall continue to work and provide services to the Company on a regular full-time basis although it is understood
and agreed that you shall work remotely from home unless the Company specifically requests that you come into the office. To the extent business demands
allow, Esperion will provide you with a reasonable degree of flexibility in connection with your job search. You will be required to perform the
responsibilities of your position and all other assigned responsibilities diligently and competently and focus on effectively transitioning your duties and
responsibilities. With respect to compensation, you will continue to receive your salary, be eligible for employee benefits, and continue to vest in your equity
throughout the Transition Period.
2.

Severance Conditions

You shall be entitled to the Severance Benefits described in Section 3 provided you satisfy each of the following Severance Conditions: (i) enter into this
Agreement; (ii) exhibit a positive attitude in connection with the performance of your job duties and otherwise fulfill your responsibilities and associated
services in a satisfactory manner both as determined in the discretion of the Company; (iii) do not voluntarily terminate your employment prior to October 1,
2013 without the Company’s consent, provided, however, such consent shall not be withheld if you request an earlier Separation Date in order to begin
alternative employment and you provide Esperion with at least two weeks of notice (which Esperion may elect to waive); (iv) not be terminated by the
Company for cause, as determined by the Company in its discretion (“Cause”), and (v) within ten days of the Separation Date, sign and return a general
release of legal claims in a form substantially similar to Exhibit A (“General Release”).
2

3.

Severance Benefits

Provided you satisfy each of the Severance Conditions, the Company will provide you with the following payments and benefits:

(a)
Severance Pay. The Company shall pay you severance pay in the form of salary continuation at your final base salary rate of $205,000 per year
(“Severance Pay”) from the Separation Date through January 31, 2014 (the “Severance Pay Period”). The Company shall pay you Severance Pay on its
regular payroll dates applicable to your position with the Company beginning on the Company’s next regular payroll date after the Effective Date of the
General Release.
(b)
Health Benefit Continuation. Provided you either elect (and remain eligible for) COBRA/mini-COBRA or in the absence of COBRA/miniCOBRA, you exercise your conversion rights with respect to your group health insurance, the Company will continue to pay the same dollar amount for such
health insurance as if you had remained employed, until the earlier of (i) the end of the Severance Pay Period, and (ii) the day you become eligible for health
insurance through another employer.
(c)
Equity. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Documents, the Company will: (i) allow your unvested Option Shares (as defined in
the Equity Documents) to continue to vest through January 31, 2014; (ii) accelerate vesting of the unvested shares in Option Grant Serial # 0025 (2,147
shares) and Option Grant Serial # 55 (17,177 shares) by two quarters, effective as of January 31, 2014; and (iii) allow you to continue to exercise any Option
Shares you hold as of January 31, 2014, to the extent then vested and exercisable and not otherwise expired or forfeited, until June 30, 2014, or, if earlier,
until the applicable expiration date of such option. If you are not eligible for the Severance Benefits, the Equity Documents shall control the vesting and
exercisability of your Option Shares.
4.

Tax Treatment

The Company shall undertake to make deductions, withholdings and tax reports with respect to payments and benefits under this Agreement to the extent that
it reasonably and in good faith determines that it is required to make such deductions, withholdings and tax reports. Payments under this Agreement are
stated in gross amounts and shall be paid in amounts net of any such deductions or withholdings. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to require the
Company to make any payments to compensate you for any adverse tax effect associated with any payments or benefits or for any deduction or withholding
from any payment or benefit.
5.

Return of Property

During the Transition Period, you shall not dispose of Company property (including information or documents, including computerized data and any copies
made of any computerized data or
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software (“Documents”), without authorization. On or before the Separation Date, you agree to return to the Company all Company property, including,
without limitation, computer equipment, software, keys and access cards, credit cards, files and any Documents containing information concerning the
Company, its business or its business relationships (in the latter two cases, actual or prospective). After returning all Company property, you commit to
deleting and finally purging any duplicates of files or documents that may contain Company information from any computer or other device that remains your
property after the Separation Date. In the event that you discover that you continue to retain any such property, you shall return it to the Company
immediately.
6.

Non-disparagement

You agree not to make any disparaging statements concerning the Company or any of its affiliates or current or former officers, directors, shareholders,
employees or agents. You further agree not to take any actions or conduct yourself in any way that would reasonably be expected to affect adversely the
reputation or goodwill of the Company or any of its affiliates or any of its current or former officers, directors, shareholders, employees or agents. These nondisparagement obligations shall not in any way affect your obligation to testify truthfully in any legal proceeding.
7.

Employee Agreement

You reaffirm your obligations under the Employee Agreement, the terms of which are incorporated by reference herein.
8.

Releases of Claims

(a)
Your Release of Claims. In consideration for, among other terms, the Severance Benefits described in Section 3, to which you acknowledge you
would otherwise not be entitled, you voluntarily release and forever discharge the Company, its affiliated and related entities, its and their respective
predecessors, successors and assigns, its and their respective employee benefit plans and fiduciaries of such plans, and the current and former officers,
directors, shareholders, employees, attorneys, accountants and agents of each of the foregoing in their official and personal capacities (collectively referred to
as the “Releasees”) generally from all claims, demands, debts, damages and liabilities of every name and nature, known or unknown (“Claims”) that, as of the
date when you sign this Agreement, you have, ever had, now claim to have or ever claimed to have had against any or all of the Releasees. This release
includes, without limitation, all Claims:
·
·
·

relating to your employment by and the decision to terminate your employment with the Company;
of wrongful discharge;
of breach of contract;
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·
·

of retaliation or discrimination under federal, state or local law (including, without limitation, Claims of discrimination or retaliation, and
Claims under the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and Michigan law);
under any other federal or state statute, including without limitation the Michigan Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA), Michigan
Persons With Disabilities Civil Rights Act (PWDCRA), Payment of Wages and Fringe Benefits Act (WFBA), Michigan Whistleblowers’

·
·
·
·

Protection Act (WPA), Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act, the Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Act (MIOSHA) and
the Michigan Social Security Number Privacy Act;
of defamation or other torts;
of violation of public policy;
for wages, bonuses, incentive compensation, stock, stock options, vacation pay or any other compensation or benefits; and
for damages or other remedies of any sort, including, without limitation, compensatory damages, punitive damages, injunctive relief and
attorney’s fees.

(b)
Release of Company’s Claims. In consideration for, among other terms, your release of Claims pursuant to the preceding subsection, the Company
voluntarily releases and forever discharges you generally from all Claims that, as of the date when the Company signs this Agreement, the Company has, ever
had, now claims to have or ever claimed to have had against you, including, without limitation, all Claims relating to your employment by and termination of
employment with the Company; provided that the Company does not release you from any civil Claim of fraud or other conduct that satisfies the elements of
a criminal offense (“Excepted Claims”). The undersigned has no knowledge or reason to believe that the Company has any Excepted Claim against you.
9.

Effect of a Breach

In the event that you fail to comply with any of your obligations under this Agreement (including any provision that has been incorporated by reference), in
addition to any other legal or equitable remedies it may have for such breach, the Company shall have the right to terminate your at will employment (if you
are still employed) and/or terminate or suspend the Severance Benefits. Any such actions in the event of a breach by you will not affect the release or your
continuing obligations under this Agreement.
10.

Nonadmission

This Agreement shall not be construed as an admission of any liability by the Company to you or of any act of wrongdoing by the Company. The Company
specifically disclaims that it or any of its representatives has engaged in any wrongdoing or has taken any action that would be the basis for any finding of
liability.
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11.

Legal Representation

This Agreement is a legally binding document and your signature will commit you to its terms. You acknowledge that you have been advised to discuss all
aspects of this Agreement with your attorney, that you have carefully read and fully understand all of the provisions of this Agreement and that you are
voluntarily entering into this Agreement.
12.

Absence of Reliance

In signing this Agreement, you are not relying upon any promises or representations made by anyone at or on behalf of the Company.
13.

Enforceability

If any portion or provision of this Agreement (including, without limitation, any portion or provision of any section of this Agreement) shall to any extent be
declared illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such portion or provision in
circumstances other than those as to which it is so declared illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each portion and provision of this
Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.
14.

Waiver

No waiver of any provision of this Agreement shall be effective unless made in writing and signed by the waiving party. The failure of any party to require
the performance of any term or obligation of this Agreement, or the waiver by any party of any breach of this Agreement, shall not prevent any subsequent
enforcement of such term or obligation or be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach.
15.

Enforcement

(a)
Jurisdiction. You and the Company hereby agree that the state and federal courts in Michigan shall have the exclusive jurisdiction to consider any
matters related to this Agreement, including without limitation any claim for violation of this Agreement. With respect to any such court action, you
(i) submit to the jurisdiction of such courts, (ii) consent to service of process, and (iii) waive any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court
or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or venue.
(b)
Relief. You agree that it would be difficult to measure any harm caused to the Company that might result from any breach by you of your promises
set forth in Sections 5, 6 or 7 and that in any event money damages would be an inadequate remedy for any such breach. Accordingly, you agree that if you
breach, or propose to breach, any portion of your obligations under Sections 5, 6 or 7 the Company shall be entitled, in addition to all other remedies it may
have, to
6

an injunction or other appropriate equitable relief to restrain any such breach, without showing or proving any actual damage to the Company and without the
necessity of posting a bond.
16.

Governing Law; Interpretation

This Agreement shall be interpreted and enforced under the laws of the State of Michigan, without regard to conflict of law principles. In the event of any
dispute, this Agreement is intended by the parties to be construed as a whole, to be interpreted in accordance with its fair meaning, and not to be construed
strictly for or against either you or the Company or the “drafter” of all or any portion of this Agreement.
17.

Entire Agreement and Time to Consider

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between you and the Company. This Agreement supersedes any previous agreements or understandings
between you and the Company except the Equity Documents, the Esperion Therapeutics Officer Indemnification Agreement dated June 25, 2013, and the
Continuing Obligations, all of which shall remain in full force and effect.
You have the opportunity to consider this Agreement for ten (10) days before signing it (the “Consideration Period”). To accept this Agreement, you must
return a signed original of this Agreement so that it is received by the undersigned at or before the expiration of the Consideration Period. This Agreement
shall become effective on the day the Agreement is fully executed by the parties (the “Effective Date”).
18.

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be taken to be an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same document. Facsimile and pdf signatures shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as originals.
Please indicate your agreement to the terms of this Agreement by signing and returning to me the original of this letter within the Consideration Period.
Very truly yours,
ESPERION THERAPEUTICS, INC.
By:

/s/ Tim M. Mayleben
Tim M. Mayleben
President and CEO

August 8, 2013
Date
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The foregoing is agreed to and accepted by:
/s/ Troy Ignelzi
Troy Ignelzi

August 8, 2013
Date
8

EXHIBIT A
GENERAL RELEASE
Background
I, Troy Ignelzi, acknowledge that in connection with the ending of my employment with Esperion, Inc. and their affiliates (collectively, the “Company”), I
entered into a Transitional Services and Letter Agreement dated August 8, 2013 (the “Agreement”). The Agreement provides that I would be entitled to
Severance Benefits subject to my satisfying certain Severance Conditions which include, among other things, my signing and not revoking a General
Release. I understand that this is the General Release referenced in the Agreement. I further understand that I may not sign this General Release until
on or after the Separation Date, as defined in the Agreement.
Release and Related Terms
1.
I acknowledge that Company has paid me all salary and all unused vacation pay accrued to me based on my employment to and including
the Separation Date.
2.
I understand that, regardless of whether I sign this General Release, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect but I will not be
entitled to the Severance Benefits.
3.
I release and discharge Company and any of their parents, subsidiaries or related entities and each of their respective successors and assigns,
affiliates, and their current and former directors, officers, employees, and agents of each of them (any and all of which are referred to herein as the
“Releasees”) of and from all debts, actions, causes of action, suits, accounts, covenants, contracts, agreements, damages, and any and all claims, demands, and
liabilities whatsoever of every name and nature, known or unknown (all referred to below as “Claims”) that I have, claim to have ever had, or ever claimed to
have had against any of the Releasees until and through the date I sign this General Release. The claims that I release include, without implication of
limitation, all Claims relating to my employment with Company or the termination of my employment with Company; all Claims of alleged wrongful or bad
faith termination of employment; all Claims of any form of alleged unlawful employment discrimination, including all Claims based upon the Age
Discrimination Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq., Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq. and under all other federal and
state anti-discrimination laws; all claims of breach of either express or implied contract; all Claims that the Company engaged in any tortious conduct; all
Claims for salary, wages, vacation pay, separation pay, stock, stock options, expense reimbursement, or any other form of monetary or equity compensation;
all Claims for attorney’s fees; all Claims for reinstatement of employment; and all other claims under federal and state law, including without limitation the
Michigan Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act (ELCRA), Michigan Persons With Disabilities Civil Rights Act (PWDCRA), Payment of Wages and Fringe

Benefits Act (WFBA), Michigan Whistleblowers’ Protection Act (WPA), Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know Act, the Michigan Occupational Safety
and Health Act (MIOSHA) and the Michigan Social Security Number Privacy Act.

4.
I understand that I may consider this General Release for up to ten (10) days after the Separation Date. I understand that if I do not sign and
return this General Release within this ten (10) day period, my rights to the Severance Benefits will expire. This General Release shall become effective on
the first business day the Company receives the fully executed General Release (the “Effective Date”). I further represent and agree that I have carefully read
and fully understand all of the provisions of this General Release and that I am voluntarily agreeing to those provisions.
I HAVE READ THIS GENERAL RELEASE THOROUGHLY, UNDERSTAND ITS TERMS AND HAVE SIGNED IT KNOWINGLY AND
VOLUNTARILY. I UNDERSTAND THAT THIS GENERAL RELEASE IS A LEGAL DOCUMENT.

Troy Ignelzi

Date

Exhibit 31.1
Certification
I, Tim M. Mayleben certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2013 of Esperion Therapeutics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

(Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313);

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 12, 2013

/s/ Tim M. Mayleben
Tim M. Mayleben
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Esperion Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Tim M. Mayleben, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:
1)

the Report which this statement accompanies fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 12, 2013

/s/ Tim M. Mayleben
Tim M. Mayleben
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

